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One third of Gateway 
employees took part in 
volunteering activities

Launched the voluntary 
Pocket and Planet 
Advisory Council

Won Mozo Green Home 
Loan Award

I

$5.2m
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85%
Employee engagement 

is at 85%.
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96%98%
98% said  

“I know the contribution  
I make to the customer.”

Used Car Loan

Term Deposits

Personal Line of 
Credit: 

Edge Overdraft

Australia’s Best 
Small Mutual 

Bank

Home Loans: 
Offset Home 

Loans

Junior & Youth 
Banking Award: 

Dollaroo Savings

Savings 
Accounts:  

Dollaroo Savings

Home Loans: 
Green Home 

Loans

MOZO
EXPERTS 
CHOICE  
AWARDS  
2022

CANSTAR
OUTSTANDING 
VALUE
AWARDS  
2022

NEW PRODUCTS +  
SERVICES

MEMBER

10% increase in Members
105% increase YoY on  
home loans settled
Customer Satisfaction 
remained high at 83% 
Net promoter score 37 

96% of employees agreed 
“I know the contribution I 

make to the business.”
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COMMERCIAL

LOANS

Implemented 
LiveSign  
identity 

verification



“Gateway’s 
membership 
grew 10% and 
it achieved its 
highest home loan 
growth on record.”

Welcome to the Gateway Bank  
Annual Report

2022 has proved to be another unpredictable and 
eventful financial year. COVID-19, climate events 
and conflict have had a profound effect on our 
personal and working lives. Despite these challenges, 
Gateway was able to continue to support its Members 
with market leading rates, pursue its Pocket and 
Planet purpose, and demonstrate strong financial 
performance.

We thank, you, the Members, for your continued 
support of Gateway Bank and customer owned 
banking. We also thank the entire Gateway team for 
their continued resilience, flexibility, and commitment. 

Lexi Airey
Chief Executive Officer

Peter Schiller
Chair

Chair & 
CEO
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Highlights of the year

Gateway’s membership grew 10% 
and achieved its highest home 
loan growth on record. Despite 
heightened competition, the total 
loan book grew 22.2% to over $1bn 
for the first time in Gateway’s history. 
Key contributors to this growth were 
Gateway’s new Reverse Mortgage, 
Monthly Lenders Mortgage 
Insurance and loans provided as 
part of the government’s First 
Home Loan Deposit Scheme. These 
products were created to meet 
customer needs to either get on the 
housing ladder or access equity later 
in life. This loan growth was matched 
by strong retail deposit growth in the 
year of 27.3%.

At the end of a strong year Gateway 
received an investment grade credit 
rating from Moody’s. 

Our customer and employee metrics 
remained high, and Gateway was 
proud to be awarded Australian 
Small Mutual Bank of the year by 
financial comparison site Mozo. 
Gateway also received Mozo’s award 
for Green Home Loan of the year.

Particularly rewarding on Gateway’s 
Pocket and Planet journey was the 
creation of Gateway’s volunteer 
Pocket and Planet Advisory Council. 
We are grateful to the council  
for their generosity of knowledge 
and time.

Financial performance 
highlights

Notwithstanding the uncertain 
environment, Gateway continued 
to focus on the execution of its 
strategic objectives and operating 
sustainably. The NPBT for the year 
was $5.2m.  In line with Gateway’s 
diversification strategy, this 
year saw growth of $10.7m in 
commercial lending and $40.3m 
in Reverse Mortgages. Significant 
retail deposit growth of 27.3% was 
also achieved in the year. Return 
on Assets ended the year at 0.32%, 
NIM 1.73% and Cost to Income 
76.6%. Gateway’s liquidity remained 
strong throughout COVID-19 and 
finished the fiscal year at 18.05%. 
Gateway’s Capital Adequacy 
Ratio – a core measure of financial 
strength, stands at 16.08%. This is 
lower than previous years due to 
the significant lending growth, but 
Gateway remains well capitalised, 
significantly above regulatory 
requirements and in a strong 
position from which to navigate 
challenges.
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Gateway’s purpose is to help 
members save both money and 
the planet. Pocket and Planet 
recognises that although many 
people would like to be greener in 
their everyday lives, sometimes this 
option is more expensive. Gateway 
aims to help customers go greener 
quicker and save money at the 
same time. It shouldn’t cost the 
earth to save the earth.

An exciting development in FY22 
was the introduction of Gateway’s 
Pocket and Planet Advisory 
Council. The council is made up 
of highly experienced volunteers 
committed to helping Gateway 
increase its impact. They represent 
a wide circle of backgrounds 
including community, impact 
investing, design, circular economy, 
and finance. 

In February 2022, Gateway was 
awarded the Mozo Green Home 
Loan of the year award – welcome 
recognition for a home loan only 
launched in May 2021. The Green 
Home Loan and Green Plus Home 
Loan continue to reward customers 
with discounts for making steps on 
the journey of sustainability. 

The home loans form part of a 
portfolio of Pocket and Planet 
products launched in FY21. These 
include an Australian banking 
first, Gateway’s plant-based 
Eco Debit Card and Gateway’s 
cheapest personal loan, the Eco 
Personal Loan, for customers 
wanting to purchase or install 
environmental upgrades to their 
home. We now have over 2,000 
Eco Debit Cards in the wallets of 
our members each one being far 
more gentle on the planet than 
traditional PVC cards. 
 

I just wanted to leave 
some feedback in 
relation to the eco debit 
card. What a fantastic 
initiative! The whole 
of Australia and all 
companies should 
follow suit and the 
PVC cards should be 
eradicated! Keep up the 
great work! 
- Gateway Member

Pocket and Planet 
Advisory Council

Pocket & Planet 
Amy Croucher
Sustainability 
Advantage - Nature 
Positive Lead, NSW 
Department of 
Planning, Industry 
and Environment

Dr Kar Mei Tang
Head of Australia 
and New Zealand, 
UN Principles 
for Responsible 
Investment

Greg Hodgson
Head of Design 
(Enterprise), 
Atlassian

Dr Kate Ringvall
Co-founder + 
Governing Fellow, 
Galactic Cooperative

Co-founder, Ringvall 
Circularity

Digby Hall
Founding Director, 
Climatewise Design

Board Member,  
Pocket City Farms

Richard Lovell
Executive Director, 
Clean Energy 
Finance Corporation

Kirsten Junor
Chief Executive 
Officer, Reverse 
Garbage

Camille  
Socquet-Clerc
Founder, Bloom 
Impact Investing
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Gateway maintains its ethical 
investment and lending policies 
both as part of its Pocket and 
Planet focus, and in response to 
growing consumer preference. 
These policies publicly state how 
Gateway uses Members’ money in 
an ethical and responsible manner, 
the industries or activities it will not 
directly invest in or lend to. All of 
these initiatives can be found on 
the eco-hub on Gateway’s website.

For a second year Gateway was 
certified as Carbon Neutral by 
Climate Active, a partnership 
between the Australian government 
and the business community that 
drives voluntary climate action. 
The certification forms part of 
our commitment to Members to 
minimise the impact of Gateway’s 
operations on the environment 
and the community. Gateway has 
committed to reduce our combined 
scope 2 and 3 operational emissions 
by 30% by 2030, compared to our 
FY20 baseline.

With the aid of our employees 
and their “green team” we have 
introduced collection and donation 
schemes to ensure the things we 
no longer use do not go to waste.

An easing of COVID-19 restrictions 
by the end of the year meant that 
Gateway employees were able 
to recommence volunteering at 
Reverse Garbage. Reverse Garbage 
is a Co-operative with a role to save 
materials from going to waste in 
landfill and to renew their value by 
making them available for reuse 
by families, students, artists, and 
community groups. One third of 
Gateway employees took part in 
volunteering activities. 

We are grateful to Reverse Garbage 
for continuing to allow us this 
opportunity and for their continued 
content contribution to our 
Dollaroo newsletter.

Gateway sponsored Reverse 
Garbage’s creative reuse 
competition for schools; 
ReconsiderED. The competition 
encouraged the reimagining, 
reinventing, and reinvigorating 
of resources – transforming an 
otherwise-disposable item into 
something of higher quality, to give 
it another chance at life and we 
are pleased to feature one of the 
finalists shown here.

Above: Kookaburra artwork 
created by a student for 
ReconsiderED, a Reverse 
Garbage competition.

Below: A Gateway employee 
volunteers at Reverse Garbage 
in Marrickville.
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Products and services that 
respond to Member needs
Gateway offered market leading 
term deposit rates throughout the 
year. And as previously mentioned, 
received two consumer awards - 
Mozo Australian Small Mutual Bank 
and Mozo Green Home loan award.

In FY21 Gateway launched a 
Reverse Mortgage product to allow 
Members to access the value in 
their property without having to 
sell their home or move out. This 
product has been well received by 
Members. 

Gateway continued its position as 
a panellist on the First Home Loan 
Deposit Scheme. The Scheme is an 
Australian Government initiative to 
support eligible first home buyers in 
purchasing their first home sooner. 

During FY22, Gateway introduced 
an Australian first, Monthly 
Lenders Mortgage Insurance 
which provided the option to pay 
a monthly premium rather than a 
lump sum. This product was well 
received by the market and helped 
members ease the upfront costs of 
buying a home. 

In another Australian first in FY22, 
Gateway implemented LiveSign, 
a solution to allow Members to 
digitally sign a document and prove 
their identity at the same time, thus 
providing convenience and added 
security.

Brokers are key partners to 
Gateway. During FY22 Gateway 
improved its service by increasing 
its support functions, allowing 
for more conversations at critical 
points in the application process. 
The ability for brokers to contact 
decision makers forms a key point 
of difference in Gateway’s Broker 
Value Proposition. The average 
call wait time for the underwriting 
team was under 30 seconds for 
the year. Gateway also added an 
additional aggregator partnership 
with Custom Equity Group coming 
onboard. 

Gateway Culture 
COVID-19 has had some profound 
changes to how we work. Gateway 
has moved to working in a hybrid 
fashion, partially in the office and 
from home. We are proud of the 
fact we have been able to maintain 
our customer and employee 
centric culture despite seeing each 
other less. 

Gateway’s measures of customer 
centricity remain strong. Customer 
satisfaction is high at 83.03%. 
Net Promoter Score, which 
measures how likely a customer 
is to recommend Gateway is 
37. Gateway also asks Members 
whether they have recommended 
our products and services. 60% of 
respondents said they had. 

Key employee metrics remain high. 
Employee engagement at 85%, 
while 96% of employees agreed  
“I know the contribution I make to 
the business” and 98% said  
“I know the contribution I make  
to the customer.” 

Board changes
FY22 saw the Gateway Board 
continue its transformation 
consistent with its renewal strategy. 

Chair Catherine Hallinan retired 
from the board in September 
2021. Catherine served on the 
Board through its iterations as 
Commonwealth Bank Officers’ 
Association, Gateway Credit Union 
and Gateway Bank. Peter Schiller 
was elected as the new Chair.  Peter 
joined the Board in July 2018 after 
nearly 40 years banking experience 
in Executive Management roles in 
Risk, Relationship Management, IT 
and Audit.

Brendan White was appointed to a 
casual vacancy in October 2021 and 
elected to the board in November 
at the 2021 AGM. Brendan has over 
30 years’ experience in the financial 
services sector, holding senior 
executive roles at Commonwealth 
Bank and Bank of Queensland.  



The year ahead 

The Board and management 
continuously review Gateway’s 
strategy and performance in the 
context of a changing environment. 
The Board are confident that 
Gateway’s current strategy is 
directionally correct. The FY23 
strategy will maintain the trajectory 
of previous years, with fine tuning 
to focus on current areas of 
opportunity. Gateway will seek to 
enhance the opportunities it has 
created, particularly in the areas 
of Pocket and Planet, reverse 
mortgages and commercial 
loans. This will be facilitated by its 
relentless focus on continuous 
technological enhancements, 
enabling reciprocal partnerships 
that will reduce costs and enhance 
customer experience.

Final thoughts
We would like to end as we 
began this report, by thanking 
our Members new and old for 
their continued support. And 
thanking employees for taking 
the challenges of COVID-19 head 
on, living the Gateway values and 
continuing to do the right thing for 
our Members.

With thanks,

Peter Schiller 
Chair

Lexi Airey 
Chief Executive Officer
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Peter M Schiller 
CHAIR

MBA, Grad Dip. Banking & Fin., MAICD

Peter joined the Board in July 2018 and has nearly 40 years’ 
banking experience in executive management roles in 
Risk, Relationship Management, IT and Audit with both the 
Commonwealth Bank of Australia and the ANZ Banking Group. 

Committee Memberships:
 + Audit (July 2018 to present)
 + Nominations & Remuneration (October 2021 to present)
 + Risk Chair (January 2020 to September 2021)

Robyn L FitzRoy 
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

BA, MA, FAICD.

Robyn joined the Board in January 2015. She is also a director 
of the Self-Managed Super Fund Association and Football 
Federation of Australia. She has over 20 years’ experience 
in the financial services industry and is a former Executive 
Director of Macquarie Bank. Robyn is a management consultant 
specialising in governance and is a former non-executive 
director of CUSCAL. She also is an accredited facilitator and 
author of courses for the Australian Institute of Company 
Directors.

Committee Memberships:
 + Nominations and Remuneration Chair  

(December 2015 to present)
 + Audit (January 2020 to present)

Christine Franks AM
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

BA (Statistics, Sociology), M.Mgmt (Community), FAICD

Christine joined the Board in August 2019. She is a director 
with 20 years’ governance experience in financial services, 
health, Not-For-Profit (NFP) and government, and is 
currently founder and chair of Women in Aid & Development 
and the Chairs Circle. She is a strong advocate of customer-
owned banking with significant experience as a credit union 
director. Christine has an executive background in sales, 
marketing, customer research and customer service across 
commercial and NFP sectors and was awarded the Member 
of the Order of Australia in 2020. 

Committee Memberships:
 + Risk (August 2019 to present)
 + Nominations & Remuneration (August 2019 to present) 

Thomas C Lyons
COMPANY SECRETARY

 + Senior Manager, Finance & Treasury
 + Appointed Company Secretary July 2020
 + BCom, CA. 
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Andrew B. Black 
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Adv Dip. Financial Planning, Dip. Financial Services (Finance & 
Mortgage Broking), MAICD

Andrew joined the Board in August 2019. Andrew has over 35 
years’ financial services experience in banking, wealth, insurance, 
and investments with Citibank (United Kingdom and Australia), 
Commonwealth Bank of Australia, St. George Bank, Skandia 
Australia, and Plan B Group Holdings. Andrew has held other 
non-executive director and advisory board roles in business 
coaching and personal insurances and is currently a responsible 
manager for the personal insurance comparison website 
lifeinsurancecomparison.com.au owned by Alternative Media. 

Committee Memberships:
 + Audit Chair (November 2020 to present)
 + Nominations and Remuneration  

(August 2019 to September 2021) 

Daniel R Cassels 
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

MAppFin, BMathFin, MAICD

Daniel joined the Board in September 2020. Daniel is a skilled 
practitioner in global fixed income markets with over 25 years of 
diverse experience in senior positions across treasury management 
and debt capital markets with the Commonwealth Bank of 
Australia.

 Committee Memberships:
 + Risk Chair (October 2021 to present)
 + Risk (September 2020 to October 2021)
 + Nominations & Remuneration (October 2021 to present) 

Dr Hilangwa Maimbo
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

PhD (IS), MCom (IS), PGrad Dip. (IS), BTech (Hons), MAICD

Hilangwa joined the Board in April 2021. He is an Information 
Technology professional with over 20 years’ experience in senior 
and executive management roles, both locally and internationally, 
predominantly in the financial services industry. Hilangwa’s areas of 
expertise include digital transformation, IT strategy, operations, and 
service delivery. 

 Committee Memberships:
 + Audit (April 2021 to present)
 + Risk (November 2021 to present) 

Brendan White
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Grad Dip. Investment Management   

Brendan joined the Board in October 2021. He is also a Non-
Executive Director of Trade for Good and an Advisory Board 
Member of a fintech start-up. Brendan has over 30 years’ 
experience in the financial service sector having held a number of 
senior executive roles at Commonwealth Bank, Bank of Queensland.

 Committee Memberships:
 + Audit Committee (October 2021 to present) 
 + Risk Committee (October 2021 to present) 
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Executive
Team

Lexi Airey
 
Chief Executive Officer
BA (Hons), MSc, GAICD

Gerald Nicholls
 
Chief Risk Officer
B Bus

Peter Buzek
 
Chief Technology Officer
BSc, CRISC, CISM, MBT

Debra Landgrebe
 
Chief Financial Officer
CA (SA)
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V A L U E S

“Small up” do more 
with less

Stumble don’t fall

Passion

Do the right thing

Not “work” but 
making a difference
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Directors’ Report
Directors’ Report 
 

2 
 

Your directors submit their report for the year ended 
30 June 2022. 

DIRECTORS 

The names and details of Gateway Bank’s directors in 
office during the financial year and until the date of this 
report are as follows. 

Directors were in office for this entire period unless 
otherwise stated. 

Peter M Schiller (Chair) 
Catherine M Hallinan – retired 30 September 2021 
Andrew B Black 
Daniel R Cassels 
Robyn L FitzRoy 
Christine Franks AM 
Dr Hilangwa Maimbo 
Brendan White – appointed 1 October 2021 

Director Profiles 

Peter M Schiller 
CHAIR 
Qualifications 
MBA, Grad Dip. Banking & Finance, MAICD 

Experience and Special Responsibilities 
Peter joined the Board in July 2018 and has nearly 40 
years’ banking experience in executive management 
roles in Risk, Relationship Management, IT and Audit 
with both the Commonwealth Bank of Australia and the 
ANZ Banking Group. 

▪ Chair (October 2021 to present) 

Committee Memberships 
▪ Audit (July 2018 to present) 
▪ Nominations and Remuneration (October 2021 to 

present) 
▪ Risk Chair (January 2020 to September 2021) 
▪ Risk (July 2018 to December 2019) 

Andrew B Black 
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
Qualifications 

Grad Dip. Financial Planning, Dip. Financial Services 
(Finance & Mortgage Broking), MAICD 

Experience and Special Responsibilities 

Andrew joined the Board in August 2019. Andrew has 
over 35 years’ financial services experience in banking, 
wealth, insurance, and investments with Citibank (United 
Kingdom and Australia), Commonwealth Bank of 
Australia, St. George Bank, Skandia Australia, and Plan 
B Group Holdings. Andrew has held other non-executive 
director and advisory board roles in business coaching 
and personal insurances and is currently a responsible 
manager for the personal insurance comparison website 
lifeinsurancecomparison.com.au owned by Alternative 
Media. 

Committee Memberships 
▪ Audit Chair (November 2020 to present) 
▪ Risk (January 2020 to November 2020 and October 

2021 to present) 
▪ Nominations and Remuneration (August 2019 to 

September 2021) 

Daniel R Cassels 
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
Qualifications 
MAppFin, BMathFin, MAICD 

Experience and Special Responsibilities 
Daniel joined the Board in September 2020. Daniel is a 
skilled practitioner in global fixed income markets with 
over 25 years of diverse experience in senior positions 
across treasury management and debt capital markets 
with the Commonwealth Bank of Australia. 

Committee Memberships 
▪ Nominations and Remuneration (October 2021 to 

present) 
▪ Risk Chair (October 2021 to present) 
▪ Risk (September 2020 to September 2021) 
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Directors’ Report (continued)
Directors’ Report (continued) 
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Robyn L FitzRoy 
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
Qualifications 
BA, MA, FAICD 

Experience and Special Responsibilities 
Robyn joined the Board in January 2015. She is also a 
director of the Self-Managed Super Fund Association 
and Football Australia.  She has over 20 years’ 
experience in the financial services industry and is a 
former Executive Director of Macquarie Bank. Robyn is 
a management consultant specialising in governance 
and is a former non-executive director of CUSCAL. She 
is also an accredited facilitator and author of courses for 
the Australian Institute of Company Directors. 

Committee Memberships 
▪ Nominations and Remuneration Chair (December 

2015 to present) 
▪ Audit (January 2020 to present) 

Christine Franks AM 
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
Qualifications 
BA (Statistics, Sociology), M.Mgmt (Community), FAICD 

Experience and Special Responsibilities 
Christine joined the Board in August 2019. She is a 
director with 20 years’ governance experience in 
financial services, health, Not-For-Profit (NFP) and 
government, and is currently founder and chair of 
Women in Aid & Development and the Chairs Circle. She 
is a strong advocate of customer-owned banking with 
significant experience as a credit union director. 
Christine has an executive background in sales, 
marketing, customer research and customer service 
across commercial and NFP sectors and was awarded 
the Member of the Order of Australia in 2020.  
Committee Memberships 
▪ Risk (August 2019 to present) 
▪ Nominations and Remuneration (August 2019 to 

present) 

Catherine M Hallinan (Retired, 30 September 2021) 
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
Qualifications 
BA (Hons), MBA, F Fin., FAICD, FAMI 

Experience and Special Responsibilities 
Catherine joined the Board in June 2006 and was 
appointed Chair in May 2012. Catherine is also a director 
of health fund HCF (and its subsidiary companies HCF 
Life Limited and Flip Insurance Pty Limited), Lawcover 
Insurance Pty Limited, SMIF Pty Limited, SCOR Global 
Life Australia Pty Limited and St. Catherine’s Aged Care 
Services. Catherine has over 30 years’ experience in 
banking, finance, and management consulting. 
▪ Chair (May 2012 to September 2021) 
▪ Deputy Chair (March 2010 to May 2012) 

Committee Memberships 
▪ Audit (March 2014 to September 2021) 
▪ Nominations and Remuneration (July 2014 to 

September 2021) 
▪ Risk (November 2020 to September 2021) 

Dr Hilangwa Maimbo 
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
Qualifications 
PHD (IS), MCom (IS), Post Grad Dip. (IS), BTech 
(Hons), MAICD 

Experience and Special Responsibilities 
Hilangwa joined the Board in April 2021. He is an 
Information Technology professional with over 20 years’ 
experience in senior and executive management roles, 
both locally and internationally, predominantly in the 
financial services industry. Hilangwa’s areas of expertise 
include digital transformation, IT strategy, operations, 
and service delivery.  
Committee Memberships 
▪ Audit (April 2021 to present) 
▪ Risk (November 2021 to present) 
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Directors’ Report (continued)
Directors’ Report (continued) 
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Brendan White (Appointed, 1 October 2021) 
NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR 
Qualifications 
Grad Dip. Investment Management 

Experience and Special Responsibilities 
Brendan joined the Board in October 2021. He is also a 
Non-Executive Director of Trade for Good and an Advisory 
board member of a fintech start-up. Brendan has over 30 
years’ experience in the financial services sector, having 
held several senior executive roles at the Commonwealth 
Bank of Australia and Bank of Queensland. 
Committee Memberships 
▪ Audit (October 2021 to present) 
▪ Risk (October 2021 to present) 
 

COMPANY SECRETARY 
Thomas C Lyons 
Senior Manager, Finance & Treasury 
Appointed Company Secretary July 2020 
BCom, CA. 
 

DIRECTORS' MEETINGS 

The number of meetings of directors (including meetings of committees of directors) held during the year and the 
number of meetings attended by each director were as follows: 

  
Board 

Meetings 

Nominations 
and 

Remuneration 
Committee 
Meetings 

Audit 
Committee 
Meetings 

Risk 
Committee 
Meetings 

      

Catherine M Hallinan A 2 1 2 2 
B 2 2 2 2 

Peter M Schiller A 8 3 6 2 
B 8 3 6 2 

Andrew B Black A 8 2 6 4 
B 8 2 6 4 

Daniel R Cassels A 8 3  6 
B 8 3  6 

Robyn L FitzRoy A 8 5 4  
B 8 5 6  

Christine Franks AM A 8 5  6 
B 8 5  6 

Dr Hilangwa Maimbo A 8  5 3 
B 8  6 3 

Brendan White A 5  4 4 
B 6  4 4 

 
A - Number of meetings attended 
B - Number of meetings held during the time the director held office during the year. 

All directors requested and were granted leave for meetings they were unable to attend.  
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Directors’ Report (continued)
Directors’ Report (continued) 
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DIVIDENDS 

No dividends have been paid or declared since the end 
of the previous financial year, nor do the directors 
recommend the declaration of a dividend. 

CORPORATE INFORMATION 

Gateway is a public company limited by shares 
incorporated and domiciled in Australia.  As at 30 June 
2022, the Consolidated Entity comprises of the Bank, the 
Portavia Trust No.1 Westpac Warehouse ("Portavia 
Trust No.1") and Portavia Trust No.2 Series 2013-1R 
("Portavia Trust No.2").  The Bank holds nine residual 
income units in each of the Portavia Trust No.1 and 
Portavia Trust No.2, which are both controlled entities of 
the Bank. 

The Consolidated Entity employed 66 employees at 
30 June 2022 (2021: 62). 

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES 

The principal activities of the Consolidated Entity during 
the year were the provision of financial and associated 
services to Members of the Bank.  There have been no 
significant changes in the nature of these activities 
during the year. 

OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW 

The Consolidated Entity results comprise of the full 12 
months to 30 June 2022 for Gateway Bank Limited, and 
its controlled entities, Portavia Trust No.1 and Portavia 
Trust No.2. 

The Consolidated Entity recorded a profit after income 
tax for the financial year ended 30 June 2022 of 
$3.910 million (2021: $4.703 million).   

As at 30 June 2022, the Consolidated Entity statement 
of financial position assets increased to $1.4 billion 
(2021: $1.1 billion), representing an increase of 
$298 million (27.5%) from the prior financial year. Total 
loans increased by $199.6 million (22.3%) to $1.1 billion 
(2021: $893.3 million), with total deposits of $1.1 billion 
(2021: $804.0 million), having increased $252.5 million 
(31.4%) from the prior financial year. 

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN THE STATE OF 
AFFAIRS 
The continued social and economic effects of COVID-19 
over the year have been shaped by the emergence and 
spread of new variants, the continued rollout of vaccines, 
including booster vaccinations, and the evolving 
approaches of governments to social and travel 
restrictions. Although the course of the COVID-19 
pandemic and its impact on economic activity and our 
members is better understood, the responses of 

members, business and governments remains 
uncertain. 

New external risks are also emerging, including 
mounting geopolitical tensions, global supply chain 
disruptions, the conflict in Ukraine, and commodity price 
pressures. Thus, there remains an elevated level of 
uncertainty involved in the preparation of these financial 
statements. 

The estimation uncertainty is predominantly related to 
the Expected Credit Losses (ECL) where the 
Consolidated Entity recognised an impairment expense 
in the Statements of Comprehensive Income for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2022 of $0.1 million pre-tax 
(2021: $0.2 million benefit). Further information on the 
ECL provisioning is set out in Note 8. 

Other than the changes outlined above, there have been 
no other significant changes in the state of affairs during 
the financial year. 

SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE BALANCE 
DATE 
The Directors are not aware of any other matter or 
circumstance that has occurred since 30 June 2022, that 
has significantly affected or may significantly affect the 
operations of the Consolidated Entity, the results of 
those operations or the state of affairs of the 
Consolidated Entity in subsequent financial years. 

LIKELY DEVELOPMENTS AND EXPECTED 
RESULTS 

There have been no significant changes in the 
operations and services of the Consolidated Entity. 

ENVIRONMENTAL REGULATION AND 
PERFORMANCE 
The Consolidated Entity is not subject to any particular 
or significant environmental regulation under laws of the 
Commonwealth or of a State or Territory. 

SHARE OPTIONS 
No option to acquire shares in the Bank has been 
granted to any person.  No shares have been issued 
during the financial year or since the end thereof by 
virtue of the exercise of any options.  There are no 
unissued shares under option at the date of this report. 

DIRECTORS BENEFITS 

No director has received or become entitled to receive, 
during or since the financial year, a benefit of a contract 
made by Gateway Bank with a director, a firm which a 
director is a member, or an entity on which a director has 
a substantial financial interest other than disclosed in 
Note 22 of the financial statements.  
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INDEMNIFICATION AND INSURANCE OF 
DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS 
During or since the end of the financial year, a premium 
was paid in respect of a contract insuring directors and 
officers (including executive officers, secretary, and 
employees) of the Bank against liability. 

In accordance with normal commercial practice, 
disclosure of the total amount of premium payable and 
the nature of the liabilities covered by the insurance 
contract is prohibited by a confidentiality clause in the 
contract. 

ROUNDING 
The amounts contained in this report and in the financial 
report have been rounded to the nearest $1,000 (where 
rounding is applicable), unless otherwise stated, under 
the option available to the Bank under ASIC 
Corporations (Rounding in Financial/Directors' Reports) 
Instrument 2016/191. The Bank is an entity to which the 
Class Order applies. 

AUDITOR INDEPENDENCE 
As required under Section 307C of the Corporations Act 
the directors received an independence declaration from 
the auditor, KPMG.  A copy has been included on the 
following page. 

PRUDENTIAL DISCLOSURES 
Prudential disclosures made in accordance with 
APS 330 Public Disclosures can be located under 
Important Information on Gateway Bank’s website at 
https://www.gatewaybank.com.au/important-
information. 

 

Signed in accordance with a resolution of the directors. 

 
P M Schiller 
Chair 
Sydney, 20 September 2022 
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KPMG, an Australian partnership and a member firm of the KPMG global organisation of independent member firms affiliated 
with KPMG International Limited, a private English company limited by guarantee. All rights reserved. The KPMG name and 
logo are trademarks used under license by the independent member firms of the KPMG global organisation. Liability limited by 
a scheme approved under Professional Standards Legislation. 

 

Lead Auditor’s Independence Declaration under 

Section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001 
 

To the Directors of Gateway Bank Ltd 

 

I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, in relation to the audit of Gateway Bank Ltd for the 
financial year ended 30 June 2022 there have been: 

i. no contraventions of the auditor independence requirements as set out in the 
Corporations Act 2001 in relation to the audit; and 

ii. no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in relation to the audit. 

 

 

 

 

KPMG Richard Drinnan 

 Partner 

 Wollongong 

 20 September 2022 

 

Auditor’s Independence Declaration
For the year ended 30 June 2022
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The above Statements of Comprehensive Income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 

 

2022 2021 2022 2021
Note $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Interest income 3(a) 27,895        28,180        28,236        28,508        
Interest expense 3(a) (7,173)         (8,006)         (7,518)         (8,336)         
Net interest income 20,722        20,174        20,718        20,172        
Non-interest income 3(b) 1,929          1,384          1,656          1,139          
Operating income 22,651        21,558        22,374        21,311        

Occupancy expenses (134)            (128)            (134)            (128)            
Marketing expenses (656)            (657)            (656)            (657)            
IT expenses (1,979)         (1,879)         (1,979)         (1,879)         
Administration expenses 3(c) (4,208)         (3,409)         (3,931)         (3,162)         
Employee expenses 3(d) (8,702)         (7,579)         (8,702)         (7,579)         
Depreciation and amortisation expense 3(e) (1,681)         (1,676)         (1,681)         (1,676)         
Operating expenses (17,360)       (15,328)       (17,083)       (15,081)       

Net profit before impairment and income tax
expense

5,291          6,230          5,291          6,230          

Impairment (expense)/benefit 3(f) (71)             162             (71)             162             
Net profit before tax 5,220          6,392          5,220          6,392          
Income tax expense 4(a) (1,310)         (1,689)         (1,310)         (1,689)         
Net profit after tax attributable to Members 3,910          4,703          3,910          4,703          

Other comprehensive income

Net change on Cash Flow Hedge Reserve 17 37              40              -                 -                 
Other comprehensive income net of tax 37              40              -                 -                 

Total comprehensive income attributable to 
Members 3,947          4,743          3,910          4,703          

Consolidated Bank

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss

Statements of Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 30 June 2022
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The above Statements of Financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

2022 2021 2022 2021
Note $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Assets 
Cash and cash equivalents 5 54,491        38,493        48,237        35,168        
Investments 6 224,286      140,995      244,839      161,548      
Loans and advances 7,8 1,092,889    893,291      1,092,889    893,291      
Current tax assets 730             -                 730             -                 
Net deferred tax assets 4(c) 1,119          1,112          1,119          1,112          
Property, plant and equipment 9 5,985          7,283          5,985          7,283          
Intangible assets 10 769             935             769             935             
Other assets 11 921             1,146          4,263          3,355          
Total assets 1,381,190    1,083,255    1,398,831    1,102,692    

Liabilities
Deposits 12 1,056,574    804,029      1,056,574    804,029      
Trade payables 13 3,391          4,458          3,108          4,283          
Current tax liabilities -                 181             -                 181             
Derivative financial instruments 14 -                 37              -                 -                 
Borrowings 15(a) 203,525      160,992      50,992        51,888        
Inter-entity borrowings 15(b) -                 -                 170,457      128,716      
Provisions 16 1,552          1,357          1,552          1,357          
Total liabilities 1,265,042    971,054      1,282,683    990,454      

Net assets 116,148      112,201      116,148      112,238      

Members' equity
Retained earnings 116,148      112,238      116,148      112,238      
Reserves 17 -                 (37)             -                 -                 
Total members' equity  116,148      112,201      116,148      112,238      

Consolidated Bank

Statements of Financial Position
For the year ended 30 June 2022
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The above Statements of Changes in Equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Retained
Earnings

Cash Flow
Hedge

Reserve
Total

Equity
Note  $'000  $'000  $'000 

107,535      (77)             107,458      
Total comprehensive income 

Profit for the year 4,703          -                 4,703          
Other comprehensive income

Net change in Cash Flow Hedge Reserve 17 -                 40              40              
Total other comprehensive income -                 40              40              
Total comprehensive income 4,703          40              4,743          

112,238      (37)             112,201      

Total comprehensive income 
Profit for the year 3,910          -                 3,910          

Other comprehensive income
Net change in Cash Flow Hedge Reserve 17 -                 37              37              

Total other comprehensive income -                 37              37              
Total comprehensive income 3,910          37              3,947          

116,148      -                 116,148      

Retained
Earnings

Cash Flow
Hedge

Reserve
Total

Equity
Bank Note $'000 $'000 $'000

107,535      -                 107,535      
Total comprehensive income 

Profit for the year 4,703          -                 4,703          
Other comprehensive income

Net change in Cash Flow Hedge Reserve 17 -                 -                 -                 
Total other comprehensive income -                 -                 -                 
Total comprehensive income 4,703          -                 4,703          

112,238      -                 112,238      

Total comprehensive income 
Profit for the year 3,910          -                 3,910          

Other comprehensive income
Net change in Cash Flow Hedge Reserve 17 -                 -                 -                 

Total other comprehensive income -                 -                 -                 
Total comprehensive income 3,910          -                 3,910          

116,148      -                 116,148      

At 30 June 2022

Consolidated

At 30 June 2020

At 30 June 2021

At 30 June 2022

At 30 June 2021

At 30 June 2020

Statements of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 30 June 2022
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The above Statements of Cash Flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes. 

It should be noted that the Consolidated Entity does not use the Statements of Cash Flows in the internal management 
of its liquidity positions.

2022 2021 2022 2021
Note $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Cash flows from operating activities
Interest received 30,669        29,898        31,011        30,247        
Bad debts recovered 204             293             204             293             
Commissions and fees paid (4,565)         (1,941)         (4,565)         (1,941)         
Other non-interest income (refunded)/received (1,192)         2,003          (333)            4,656          
Interest paid (7,022)         (8,756)         (7,368)         (8,976)         
Net funds (advanced to)/receipted from members for 
loans and advances (198,526)     22,791        (198,525)     25,473        

Payments to suppliers and employees (13,035)       (17,817)       (15,133)       (22,640)       
Income tax paid (2,228)         (666)            (2,228)         (666)            
Net repayment of and acceptance from deposits 252,761      7,096          252,761      7,096          
Net cash flows from operating activities 19(a) 57,066        32,901        55,824        33,542        

Cash flows used in investing activities
Proceeds from redemption of investments 347,610      181,676      347,610      181,676      
Payments for investments (430,902)     (196,767)     (430,901)     (196,767)     
Purchase of intangible assets (53)             (26)             (53)             (26)             
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (224)            (104)            (224)            (104)            
Net cash flows used in investing activities (83,569)       (15,221)       (83,568)       (15,221)       

Cash flows from/(used in) financing activities
Proceeds from debt securities issuance 43,429        -                 -                 -                 
Proceeds from/(repayment of) borrowings -                 35,824        41,741        (15,929)       
Repayment of debt securities -                 (53,390)       -                 -                 
Payment of lease liabilities (928)            (864)            (928)            (864)            
Net cash flows from/(used in) financing activities 19(b) 42,501        (18,430)       40,813        (16,793)       

Net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 15,998        (750)            13,069        1,528          
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 38,493        39,243        35,168        33,640        
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year 5 54,491        38,493        48,237        35,168        

Consolidated Bank

Statements of Cash Flows
For the year ended 30 June 2022
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1 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PREPARATION 

The financial report of Gateway Bank Limited (the Bank), together with its controlled entities (the Consolidated 
Entity), for the year ended 30 June 2022, was authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 20 September 2022. 
The directors have the power to amend and reissue the financial statements. 

The Bank is a for-profit entity incorporated and domiciled in Australia. It is a public company limited by shares. The 
registered office is Level 10, 68 York Street, Sydney, New South Wales, 2000. 

The financial report includes the consolidated and standalone financial statements of the Consolidated Entity and 
the Bank. Controlled entities are all those entities over which the parent entity, the Bank, has the power to govern 
the financial and operating policies to obtain the benefits from their activities. As the Bank holds all the participating 
residual income units of Portavia Trust No.1 and Portavia Trust No.2 in its ownership structure, both these special 
purpose entities are deemed to be controlled entities of the Bank. 

The principal accounting policies are set out below and in the relevant notes to the financial statements. These 
accounting policies provide details of the accounting treatments adopted and where accounting standards provide 
policy choices. These policies have been consistently applied to all years presented, unless otherwise stated. 

(a) Basis of preparation and accounting 

The Financial Report: 
▪ is a general purpose financial report 
▪ has been prepared in accordance with the Australian Accounting Standards and Interpretations adopted by the 

Australian Accounting Standards Board (AASB) and International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as 
issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) 

▪ has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Corporations Act 2001 
▪ is presented in Australian Dollars, which is the Consolidated Entity’s functional and presentation currency 
▪ is presented with all values rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($’000) in accordance with ASIC 

Corporations Instrument 2016/191 unless otherwise indicated 
▪ has been prepared on a going concern basis using an historical cost basis, as modified by applying fair value 

accounting to financial assets and financial liabilities (including derivative instruments) measured at fair value 
through profit and loss (FVTPL) or in other comprehensive income (OCI); and 

▪ presents assets and liabilities on the face of the Statements of Financial Position in decreasing order of liquidity. 

The Consolidated Entity has adopted Class Order 10/654, issued by the Australian Securities and Investments 
Commission (ASIC), permitting entities to continue to include parent entity financial statements in their financial 
reports. Entities taking advantage of the relief are not required to present the summary parent entity information 
otherwise required by Regulation 2M.3.01 of the Corporations Regulations 2001. 

(b) New accounting standards and interpretations 

No new accounting standards have been adopted by the Consolidated Entity for the full year ended 30 June 2022. 
There have also been no amendments to existing accounting standards that have had a material impact on the 
Consolidated Entity. 

(c) Future developments in accounting standards 

There are no new standards and interpretations that may have a material impact on the Consolidated Entity that 
have been issued but are not yet effective, and unless otherwise stated, have not been early adopted by the 
Consolidated Entity. 

 

Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended 30 June 2022
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1 FINANCIAL STATEMENTS PREPARATION (continued) 

(d) Critical accounting assumptions and estimates 

The preparation of the financial statements requires the use of judgement, assumptions and estimates which impact 
the financial information. Management continually evaluates its judgements and estimates in relation to assets, 
liabilities, contingent liabilities, income, and expenses. Management bases its judgements and estimates on 
historical experience and on other various factors it believes to be reasonable under the circumstances, the result 
of which form the basis of the carrying values of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. 
Actual results may differ from these estimates under different assumptions and conditions. 

Management has identified the following critical accounting policies for which significant judgements, estimates and 
assumptions are made. Further details of the key judgements and estimates may be found in the relevant notes to 
the financial statements. 

Provisions for Expected Credit Losses (ECL) 

Details on specific judgements in relation to the impact of COVID-19 and other emerging risks on the calculation of 
provisions for ECL are included in Note 8. 

Estimation of useful lives of non-financial assets 

The estimation of the useful lives of assets has been based on historical experience as well as lease terms (for 
leasehold improvements). In addition, the condition of the assets is assessed at least once per annum and 
considered against the remaining useful life. Adjustments to useful lives are made when considered necessary. 

Make good provision 

The Bank entered a lease agreement for its office premises at Level 10, 68 York Street, Sydney on 31 October 2018. 
This lease has a term of 8 years and expires on 31 October 2026. The Consolidated Entity holds a provision to cover 
the cost of restoring the leased office premises at 68 York Street upon the completion of the lease as per the 
requirements of the lease contract. An estimate of the per metre cost of the restoration is based on market rates. 
This rate and the adequacy of the provision build-up is reviewed annually, and management have ensured there is 
adequate coverage of the make good liability. 

Effective Interest Rate (EIR) 

The EIR is applied to determine the value of capitalised upfront broker commissions, costs, and fees. Under this 
method, the estimated expected life and run-off rates of loans have been assessed based on historical loan 
prepayment rates of those portfolios. 

Hedge accounting 

The Consolidated Entity has designated macro hedge relationships as cash flow hedges. The Consolidated Entity’s 
hedge accounting policies include an element of judgement and estimation, in particular, in respect of the existence 
of highly probable cash flows for inclusion within the macro cash flow hedge. Estimates of future interest rates and 
the general economic environment will influence the availability and timing of suitable hedged items, with an impact 
on the effectiveness of the hedge relationships. 

2 RISK MANAGEMENT 

Financial instruments are fundamental to the Consolidated Entity’s business of providing financial and associated 
services to Members. The associated financial risks include market risk, credit risk, liquidity and funding risk and 
operational risk. These risks are managed through a continuous process of identification, analysis, measurement 
and monitoring, setting of appropriate risk limits and other controls. This risk management process is critical to the 
Consolidated Entity's sustained profitability and each individual within the Consolidated Entity is accountable for the 
risk exposures relating to his or her role and responsibilities.  

 

 
  

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 30 June 2022
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2 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

Risk Management Framework (RMF) 
The Consolidated Entity's RMF is embedded throughout its operations and governance process and is subject to 
ongoing development and enhancement to reflect changes in strategy, market conditions, and products and services 
offered. It incorporates the following core components: 
▪ a ‘three lines of defence’ model clearly defining risk ownership responsibilities with functionally independent 

levels of oversight and independent assurance 
▪ a suite of policies, procedures and systems documenting the Consolidated Entity's Board-approved Risk 

Appetite Statement (RAS) and risk management systems descriptions, establishing specific limits and other 
measures to restrict particular risk exposures, ensuring that all categories of risk are actively monitored by the 
Board and managed by Executive Management and providing for regular review of the Consolidated Entity's 
risk tolerance 

▪ human resources practices designed to recruit, train, and retain employees with required specialist skills 
▪ clearly documented delegations of responsibility and accountability of risk management throughout the 

organisation 
▪ internal control processes including structured Board and Executive Management reporting, a system of 

independent review (by internal and external audit) and regular Board oversight; and 
▪ an operational philosophy that seeks to anticipate and minimise risks before they occur and that fully 

investigates, and learns from, any unexpected consequences that should arise. 

Roles and responsibilities 

Board of Directors (Board) 

The Board has an overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Consolidated Entity’s RMF. 

Risk Committee 

The Risk Committee is responsible for monitoring compliance with the Consolidated Entity’s risk management 
policies and procedures, and for reviewing the adequacy of the RMF in relation to the risks faced by the Consolidated 
Entity. The Risk Committee reports regularly to the Board on its activities, and it is a requirement that at least one 
member of the Audit Committee is also a member of the Risk Committee. 

Audit Committee 

The Audit Committee provides assurance to the Board on the appropriateness, effectiveness, and adequacy of the 
RMF. It is responsible for the internal and external auditor relationships. 

Internal Audit 

From 7 November 2018, Grant Thornton has been engaged by the Board to review risk management and internal 
controls in the capacity of independent internal auditor. Grant Thornton has provided reports to the Chair of the Audit 
Committee and has full access to staff and information when conducting its reviews. 

Chief Executive Officer (CEO) 

The CEO is responsible for the ongoing management of the RMF including its periodic review and renewal, subject 
to requisite Board direction and approvals. 

Chief Risk Officer (CRO) and Executive Management 

The CRO and Executive Management team are responsible for implementing the Board-approved risk management 
strategy and for developing policies, procedures, processes, and controls for identifying and managing risks in all 
areas of activity. 

  

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 30 June 2022
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2 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

Roles and responsibilities (continued) 

Executive Risk and Compliance Committee (ERCC) 

The ERCC, convened by the CEO, oversees the Consolidated Entity's effectiveness in meeting all relevant risk and 
compliance obligations, as well as developing and reviewing the policy framework for recommendation and approval 
by the relevant Board Committees and endorsement by the Board. 

Risk governance and reporting 

Monitoring and controlling risk is primarily conducted using the limits established in the RAS by the Board. These 
limits reflect the Consolidated Entity’s business strategy and market environment as well as the level of risk it is 
willing to accept. 

The Board identifies several discrete material risk categories and the risk appetite and tolerance parameters for each 
of these. The RAS qualifies the appetite or tolerance level for business risks and summarises the limits and 
management controls that apply to manage the impact of a particular risk. These parameters are reviewed annually. 

Information is compiled, processed, and understood to analyse, identify, and manage risks early. This information is 
presented to the Executive Management Committees, the Risk Committee, and the Board. The reporting includes 
aggregate credit exposures, delinquency summary, loan security summary, loan type summary, liquidity ratios, 
Value at Risk (VaR), sensitivity analysis and material changes. Detailed reporting occurs monthly. Executive 
Management assesses the appropriateness of the inputs and assumptions used in determining the provision for 
impairment on an annual basis or more frequently where market conditions dictate it. The Board receives 
summarised risk reporting on key risk measures monthly. More detailed analysis and review of risks is undertaken 
on a periodic basis by the Risk Committee with reporting of outcomes to the Board. 

Risk mitigation 

The Consolidated Entity actively manages risk through a framework that includes the use of collateral, delegations, 
limit frameworks, review of loan concentrations, lending and funding portfolio diversification and interest rate 
hedging. 

(a) Interest rate risk 

Market risk is the risk that market rates and prices will change and that this may have an adverse effect on the 
profitability and/or net worth of the Consolidated Entity. The Consolidated Entity is only exposed to Interest Rate 
Risk in the Banking Book (IRRBB). 

Fair value interest rate risk 

Fair value interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value of future cash flows of financial instruments will fluctuate due 
to changes in interest rates. 

Cash flow interest rate risk 

Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that changes in interest rates will affect future cash flows of financial 
instruments. The Board has established limits on VaR and interest rate gaps for stipulated periods. Positions are 
monitored monthly and managed using interest rate swaps and adjusting fixed rate pricing. 

Key controls and risk management strategies 

▪ Defined VaR indicators set in the RAS 
▪ Pricing appropriately for risk 
▪ Monthly monitoring of VaR; and 
▪ Using interest rate swaps to manage exposure in variability in future cash flows resulting from fluctuations in 

interest rates, which could affect profit or loss. 

 

  

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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2 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

(a) Interest rate risk (continued) 

VaR assumptions 

The principal risk to which non-trading portfolios are exposed is the risk of loss from fluctuations in the future cash 
flows or fair values of financial instruments because of a change in market interest rates. The main tool used to 
measure and control market risk exposure within the Consolidated Entity’s non-trading portfolio is VaR. The VaR of 
the non-trading portfolio is the estimated loss that will arise on the portfolio over a specified period (holding period) 
from an adverse market movement with a specified probability (confidence level). 

The VaR that the Consolidated Entity measures is an estimate, using a confidence level of 99%, of the potential loss 
that is not expected to be exceeded if the current market risk positions were to be held unchanged for one day. The 
use of a 99% confidence level means that, within twenty days' horizon, losses exceeding the VaR figure should 
occur, on average, not more than once every hundred days. 

Since VaR is an integral part of the Consolidated Entity's interest rate risk management, VaR limits have been 
established and exposures are reviewed monthly against the limits by Executive Management and the Board. 

Although VaR is an important tool for measuring market risk, the assumptions on which the model is based do give 
rise to some limitations, including the following: 
▪ A 20-day holding period assumes that it is possible to hedge or dispose of positions within that period. This is 

considered a realistic assumption in almost all cases but may not be the case in situations in which there is 
severe market illiquidity for a prolonged period. 

▪ A 99 percent confidence level does not reflect losses that may occur beyond this level. Even within the model 
used there is a one percent probability that losses could exceed the VaR. 

▪ A 250-day observation period. The use of historical data as a basis for determining the possible range of future 
outcomes may not always cover all possible scenarios, especially those of an exceptional nature. 

▪ The VaR measure is dependent upon the Consolidated Entity’s position and volatility of market prices. The VaR 
of an unchanged position reduces if the market price volatility declines and vice versa. 

A summary of the VaR position of the Consolidated Entity's non-trading portfolio as at 30 June is as follows: 

 
  

2022 2021
As at 30 June 1.83 0.29
Average for the period 0.99 0.30
Highest for the period 1.83 0.37
Lowest for the period 0.32 0.23

% of Capital

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 30 June 2022
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2 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

(a) Interest rate risk (continued) 

 
 
(1) Borrowings relate to funding provided to Portavia Trust No.1 from Westpac Banking Corporation, the lease liability, and the Reserve Bank 

of Australia’s Term Funding Facility. 
  

1 year or 
less

1 to 5 
years

More
than

5 years Total
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

54,490     -             -             -             1             54,491      
55,160     169,126   -             -             -             224,286    

Loans and advances 690,600   71,755     272,334   1,258      -             1,035,947 

Loans and advances 56,942     -             -             -             -             56,942      
Total financial assets 857,192   240,881   272,334   1,258      1             1,371,666 

Deposits 332,957   715,297   8,270      -             50           1,056,574 
Borrowings (1) 152,533   10,100     40,892     -             -             203,525    

485,490   725,397   49,162     -             50           1,260,099 

371,702   (484,516)  223,172   1,258      (49)          111,567    

371,702   (112,814)  110,358   111,616   111,567   

2022

Non-
interest
bearing

Total interest rate repricing gap

Financial assets measured at amortised 
cost

Financial assets measured at fair value 
through profit and loss

Floating
interest

rate

Cumulative interest rate repricing gap

Total financial liabilities

Consolidated Entity

Fixed interest rate

Cash and cash equivalents
Investments

Financial liabilities

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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2 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

(a) Interest rate risk (continued) 

 
 
(1) Notional value of derivative financial instruments. Fair value of derivative financial instruments at 30 June 2021 is a liability of $37,290. 
(2) Borrowings relate to funding provided to Portavia Trust No.1 from Westpac Banking Corporation, the lease liability, and the Reserve Bank 

of Australia’s Term Funding Facility. 
 
  

1 year or 
less

1 to 5 
years

More
than

5 years Total
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

38,492     -             -             -             1             38,493      
63,227     67,632     10,136     -             -             140,995    

Loans and advances 691,282   51,174     130,047   4,184      -             876,687    
2,254      -             -             -             -             2,254       

Loans and advances 16,604     -             -             -             -             16,604      
Total financial assets 811,859   118,806   140,183   4,184      1             1,075,033 

Financial liabilities
Deposits 286,993   506,591   10,397     -             48           804,029    
Borrowings (2) 109,104   -             46,000     5,888      -             160,992    

-             2,254      -             -             -             2,254       
Total financial liabilities 396,097   508,845   56,397     5,888      48           967,275    

415,762   (390,039)  83,786     (1,704)     (47)          107,758    

415,762   25,723     109,509   107,805   107,758   

Derivative financial instruments (1)

Cumulative interest rate repricing gap

Total interest rate repricing gap

2021

Cash and cash equivalents

Financial assets measured at amortised 
cost

Financial assets measured at fair value 
through profit and loss

Investments

Derivative financial instruments (1)

Fixed interest rate

Consolidated Entity

Floating
interest

rate

Non-
interest
bearing

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 30 June 2022
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2 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

(a) Interest rate risk (continued) 

 
(1) Borrowings relate to funding provided to the lease liability and the Reserve Bank of Australia’s Term Funding Facility. 
  

1 year or 
less

1 to 5 
years

More
than

5 years Total
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

48,236     -             -             -             1             48,237      
75,713     169,126   -             -             -             244,839    

Loans and advances 690,600   71,755     272,334   1,258      -             1,035,947 

Loans and advances 56,942     -             -             -             -             56,942      
Total financial assets 871,491   240,881   272,334   1,258      1             1,385,965 

Deposits 332,957   715,297   8,270      -             50           1,056,574 
Borrowings (1) -             10,100     40,892     -             -             50,992      

159,972   4,428      6,057      -             -             170,457    
492,929   729,825   55,219     -             50           1,278,023 

378,562   (488,944)  217,115   1,258      (49)          107,942    

378,562   (110,382)  106,733   107,991   107,942   Cumulative interest rate repricing gap

Financial assets measured at fair value 
through profit and loss

Total interest rate repricing gap

Financial liabilities

Bank

Inter-entity borrowings

Fixed interest rate

2022

Cash and cash equivalents
Investments

Financial assets measured at amortised 
cost

Floating
interest

rate

Non-
interest
bearing

Total financial liabilities

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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2 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

(a) Interest rate risk (continued) 

 
(1) Borrowings relate to funding provided to the lease liability and the Reserve Bank of Australia’s Term Funding Facility. 
  

1 year or 
less

1 to 5 
years

More
than

5 years Total
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

35,167     -             -             -             1             35,168      
83,780     67,632     10,136     -             -             161,548    

Loans and advances 691,282   51,174     130,047   4,184      -             876,687    

Loans and advances 16,604     -             -             -             -             16,604      
Total financial assets 826,833   118,806   140,183   4,184      1             1,090,007 

Financial liabilities
Deposits 286,993   506,591   10,397     -             48           804,029    
Borrowings (1) -             -             46,000     5,888      -             51,888      

114,382   5,017      9,317      -             -             128,716    
Total financial liabilities 401,375   511,608   65,714     5,888      48           984,633    

425,458   (392,802)  74,469     (1,704)     (47)          105,374    

425,458   32,656     107,125   105,421   105,374   

Financial assets measured at amortised 
cost

Bank

Fixed interest rate

2021

Floating
interest

rate

Non-
interest
bearing

Financial assets measured at fair value 
through profit and loss

Total interest rate repricing gap

Cumulative interest rate repricing gap

Inter-entity borrowings

Cash and cash equivalents
Investments

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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2 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

(b) Credit risk 

Credit risk is the potential for loss arising from the failure of a counterparty to meet their contractual obligations to 
the Consolidated Entity. It arises primarily from loans and advances. 

Key controls and risk mitigation strategies 

▪ Defined credit risk indicators set in the RAS 
▪ Transacting with counterparties that demonstrate the ability and willingness to service their obligations through 

performance of due diligence and thorough credit assessments 
▪ Applications manually assessed by qualified, approved credit authority holders within the Consolidated Entity 

using clearly defined credit policies, with more complex or higher risk applications referred to more senior and 
experienced credit authority holders with a higher delegated lending authority 

▪ Taking collateral where appropriate, such as mortgage interests over property, other registered securities over 
assets, and guarantees 

▪ For residential mortgages, where the Loan to Value Ratio (LVR) is greater than 80%, Lenders Mortgage 
Insurance (LMI) is required 

▪ Pricing appropriately for risk – particularly unsecured loans and advances 
▪ Credit concentration frameworks that set exposure limits to the introduction source, repayment type (interest-

only vs. principal and interest), borrower type (investor vs. owner-occupier), LVR, security risk category, 
counterparties, or groups of related counterparties 

▪ Regular monitoring of credit quality, concentration arrears, policy exceptions and policy breaches 
▪ Working with impaired counterparties, or those in danger of becoming so, to help rehabilitate their financial 

positions 
▪ Stress testing, either at a counterparty or portfolio level 
▪ Frequent independent credit reviews to assess business compliance with credit policies and frameworks, 

application of credit risk ratings and other key practices; and 
▪ Regular review of credit policies, and prompt implementations of amendments where required. 

Maximum exposure to credit risk 

The Consolidated Entity's maximum credit risk exposure equals the drawn-down portion on the Statements of 
Financial Position and the undrawn portion of all committed facilities of loans and receivables, and is shown in the 
following table: 

 

Refer to Notes 5, 6 and 7 for information regarding the carrying value of financial assets measured at amortised 
cost. 

  

2022 2021 2022 2021
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Bank balances 54,491        38,493        48,237        35,168        
Investments 224,286      140,995      244,839      161,548      
Loans and advances 1,092,889    893,291      1,092,889    893,291      
Unused committed loan facilities 45,618        47,058        45,618        47,058        
Redraw facilities on mortgages 68,134        68,913        68,134        68,913        
Loans approved but not funded 39,030        28,178        39,030        28,178        
Undrawn reverse mortgage loans 56,035        14,348        56,035        14,348        
Maximum credit risk exposure 1,580,483    1,231,276    1,594,782    1,248,504    

Consolidated Bank

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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2 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

(b) Credit risk (continued) 

The following tables summarise the exposures to credit risk under AASB 9. 

 
For a definition of Stage 1, 2 and 3 refer to Note 8. 

  

2022
Loans

and
advances

Deposits
with other

ADIs

Investment
debt

securities

Cash
and cash

equivalents Total
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Carrying amount of financial assets 
measured at amortised cost
Stage 1: Collectively assessed
Secured by mortgage: current 991,787      -                 -                 -                 991,787      
Secured by mortgage: <= 30 days arrears 6,001          -                 -                 -                 6,001          
Investment grade -                 678             206,630      47,502        254,810      
Unrated -                 -                 16,978        6,989          23,967        
Other 31,415        -                 -                 -                 31,415        
Net deferred income and expenses 2,861          -                 -                 -                 2,861          
Carrying amount 1,032,064    678             223,608      54,491        1,310,841    
Stage 2: Collectively assessed
Secured by mortgage 3,689          -                 -                 -                 3,689          
Other 161             -                 -                 -                 161             
Carrying amount 3,850          -                 -                 -                 3,850          
Stage 3: Collectively assessed
Secured by mortgage -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 
Other -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 
Carrying amount -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 
Stage 3: Individually assessed
Secured by mortgage 1,672          -                 -                 -                 1,672          
Other 67              -                 -                 -                 67              
Carrying amount 1,739          -                 -                 -                 1,739          
Expected credit loss (1,706)         -                 -                 -                 (1,706)         
Total carrying amount of financial 
assets measured at amortised cost 1,035,947    678             223,608      54,491        1,314,724    
Includes restructured loans 1,365          -                 -                 -                 1,365          

Carrying amount of financial assets 
measured at fair value through profit 
and loss
Secured by mortgage: current 56,942        -                 -                 -                 56,942        
Total carrying amount of financial 
assets measured at fair value through 
profit and loss 56,942        -                 -                 -                 56,942        
Total carrying amount 1,092,889    678             223,608      54,491        1,371,666    

Consolidated Entity

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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2 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

(b) Credit risk (continued) 

 
For a definition of Stage 1, 2 and 3 refer to Note 8. 

  

2021
Loans

and
advances

Deposits
with other

ADIs

Investment
debt

securities

Cash
and cash

equivalents Total
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Carrying amount of financial assets 
measured at amortised cost
Stage 1: Collectively assessed
Secured by mortgage: current 815,985      -                 -                 -                 815,985      
Secured by mortgage: <= 30 days arrears 7,686          -                 -                 -                 7,686          
Investment grade -                 650             130,209      30,906        161,765      
Unrated -                 -                 10,136        7,587          17,723        
Other 43,096        -                 -                 -                 43,096        
Net deferred income and expenses 1,716          -                 -                 -                 1,716          
Carrying amount 868,483      650             140,345      38,493        1,047,971    
Stage 2: Collectively assessed
Secured by mortgage 5,689          -                 -                 -                 5,689          
Other 269             -                 -                 -                 269             
Carrying amount 5,958          -                 -                 -                 5,958          
Stage 3: Collectively assessed
Secured by mortgage -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 
Other -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 
Carrying amount -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 
Stage 3: Individually assessed
Secured by mortgage 4,188          -                 -                 -                 4,188          
Other 202             -                 -                 -                 202             
Carrying amount 4,390          -                 -                 -                 4,390          
Expected credit loss (2,144)         -                 -                 -                 (2,144)         
Total carrying amount of financial 
assets measured at amortised cost 876,687      650             140,345      38,493        1,056,175    
Includes restructured loans 2,734          -                 -                 -                 2,734          

Carrying amount of financial assets 
measured at fair value through profit 
and loss
Secured by mortgage: current 16,604        -                 -                 -                 16,604        
Total carrying amount of financial 
assets measured at fair value through 
profit and loss 16,604        -                 -                 -                 16,604        
Total carrying amount 893,291      650             140,345      38,493        1,072,779    

Consolidated Entity

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
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2 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

(b) Credit risk (continued) 

 
For a definition of Stage 1, 2 and 3 refer to Note 8. 

  

2022
Loans

and
advances

Deposits
with other

ADIs

Investment
debt

securities

Cash
and cash

equivalents Total
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Carrying amount of financial assets 
measured at amortised cost
Stage 1: Collectively assessed
Secured by mortgage: current 991,787      -                 -                 -                 991,787      
Secured by mortgage: <= 30 days arrears 6,001          -                 -                 -                 6,001          
Investment grade -                 678             227,183      41,248        269,109      
Unrated -                 -                 16,978        6,989          23,967        
Other 31,415        -                 -                 -                 31,415        
Net deferred income and expenses 2,861          -                 -                 -                 2,861          
Carrying amount 1,032,064    678             244,161      48,237        1,325,140    
Stage 2: Collectively assessed
Secured by mortgage 3,689          -                 -                 -                 3,689          
Other 161             -                 -                 -                 161             
Carrying amount 3,850          -                 -                 -                 3,850          
Stage 3: Collectively assessed
Secured by mortgage -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 
Other -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 
Carrying amount -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 
Stage 3: Individually assessed
Secured by mortgage 1,672          -                 -                 -                 1,672          
Other 67              -                 -                 -                 67              
Carrying amount 1,739          -                 -                 -                 1,739          
Expected credit loss (1,706)         -                 -                 -                 (1,706)         
Total carrying amount of financial 
assets measured at amortised cost 1,035,947    678             244,161      48,237        1,329,023    
Includes restructured loans 1,365          -                 -                 -                 1,365          

Carrying amount of financial assets 
measured at fair value through profit 
and loss
Secured by mortgage: current 56,942        -                 -                 -                 56,942        
Total carrying amount of financial 
assets measured at fair value through 
profit and loss 56,942        -                 -                 -                 56,942        
Total carrying amount 1,092,889    678             244,161      48,237        1,385,965    

Bank
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2 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

(b) Credit risk (continued) 

 
For a definition of Stage 1, 2 and 3 refer to Note 8.  

2021
Loans

and
advances

Deposits
with other

ADIs

Investment
debt

securities

Cash
and cash

equivalents Total
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Carrying amount of financial assets 
measured at amortised cost
Stage 1: Collectively assessed
Secured by mortgage: current 815,985      -                 -                 -                 815,985      
Secured by mortgage: <= 30 days arrears 7,686          -                 -                 -                 7,686          
Investment grade -                 650             150,762      27,581        178,993      
Unrated -                 -                 10,136        7,587          17,723        
Other 43,096        -                 -                 -                 43,096        
Net deferred income and expenses 1,716          -                 -                 -                 1,716          
Carrying amount 868,483      650             160,898      35,168        1,065,199    
Stage 2: Collectively assessed
Secured by mortgage 5,689          -                 -                 -                 5,689          
Other 269             -                 -                 -                 269             
Carrying amount 5,958          -                 -                 -                 5,958          
Stage 3: Collectively assessed
Secured by mortgage -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 
Other -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 
Carrying amount -                 -                 -                 -                 -                 
Stage 3: Individually assessed
Secured by mortgage 4,188          -                 -                 -                 4,188          
Other 202             -                 -                 -                 202             
Carrying amount 4,390          -                 -                 -                 4,390          
Expected credit loss (2,144)         -                 -                 -                 (2,144)         
Total carrying amount of financial 
assets measured at amortised cost 876,687      650             160,898      35,168        1,073,403    
Includes restructured loans 2,734          -                 -                 -                 2,734          

Carrying amount of financial assets 
measured at fair value through profit 
and loss
Secured by mortgage: current 16,604        -                 -                 -                 16,604        
Total carrying amount of financial 
assets measured at fair value through 
profit and loss 16,604        -                 -                 -                 16,604        
Total carrying amount 893,291      650             160,898      35,168        1,090,007    

Bank
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2 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

(b) Credit risk (continued) 

Concentration of credit risk 

The Consolidated Entity minimises the concentration of geographic credit risk by undertaking transactions with 
counterparties across a range of geographic areas. Customers located in New South Wales comprise the largest 
segment. 

 

The Consolidated Entity further minimises concentration risk by monitoring credit risk by postcode, as certain 
postcodes have higher credit risk than others and therefore limits are applied to lending to postcodes identified as 
high risk. 

Collateral and other credit enhancements 

The Consolidated Entity holds collateral against loans to customers in the form of mortgage interests over property, 
other registered securities over assets, and guarantees. The following tables provide information on credit exposures 
from residential and commercial mortgage lending by stratifications of LVRs. The LVR is calculated as the ratio of 
the current balance of the loan to the most recent valuation of the collateral. 

Residential mortgages 

 
(1) For the residential mortgages with an LVR of >80%, >90% and >100%, $56.0 million, $209.3 million, and $nil (2021: $20.0 million, $116.1 

million, and $nil) respectively, is attributable to participants of the Federal Government’s First Home Loan Deposit Scheme (FHLDS). Under 
the FHLDS the Federal Government acts as a guarantor for up to 15% of the home loan. 

  

2022 2021 2022 2021
% % % %

New South Wales 53.8            53.5            53.8            53.5            
Victoria 20.9            21.1            20.9            21.1            
Queensland 16.0            14.9            16.0            14.9            
Western Australia 3.4             3.7             3.4             3.7             
South Australia 2.9             3.3             2.9             3.3             
Tasmania 0.6             0.6             0.6             0.6             
Northern Territory 0.0             0.1             0.0             0.1             
Australian Capital Territory 2.4             2.8             2.4             2.8             

Consolidated Bank

LVRs 2022 2021 2022 2021
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

<= 25% 53,842        37,810        53,842        37,810        
>25% <=50% 180,056       158,229       180,056       158,229       
>50% <=70% 228,777       239,248       228,777       239,248       
>70% <=80% 177,150       181,322       177,150       181,322       
>80% <=90% (1) 115,188       71,904        115,188       71,904        
>90% <=100% (1) 274,603       141,495       274,603       141,495       
>100% (1) -              320             -              320             
Total residential mortgages 1,029,616    830,328       1,029,616    830,328       

Consolidated Bank
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2 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

(b) Credit risk (continued) 

Commercial mortgages 

 

(c) Liquidity and funding risk 

Liquidity risk is the combined risk of not being able to meet financial obligations as they fall due (funding liquidity 
risk), and that liquidity in financial markets, such as the market for debt securities, may reduce significantly (market 
liquidity risk). The Consolidated Entity is exposed to liquidity risk primarily through the funding mismatch between 
the Consolidated Entity’s loans, investments, and sources of funding. 

Key controls and risk mitigation strategies 

▪ Defined liquidity risk indicators in RAS 
▪ Preparation of an annual Funding Plan based on the Budget for the next financial year and a further 4-year 

outlook 
▪ Maintaining a diverse, yet stable, pool of potential funding sources across different entities and products 
▪ Maintaining sufficient liquidity buffers and funding capacity to withstand periods of disruption in wholesale 

funding markets and unanticipated changes in the Balance Sheet funding gap 
▪ Conservatively managing the mismatch between asset and liability maturities 
▪ Maintaining a portfolio of High-Quality Liquid Assets (HQLA) readily saleable or repo-eligible liquid assets 
▪ Maintaining minimum regulatory limits on the ratio of net liquid assets (cash, short-term bank negotiable 

certificates of deposits/bills and floating rate notes) to customer liabilities, set to reflect market conditions 
▪ Daily monitoring of liquidity risk exposures, incorporating an assessment of expected future cash flows; and 
▪ Maintaining a Contingency Funding Plan that provides strategies for addressing liquidity shortfalls in a crisis 

situation. 

The closing Liquidity ratio for the year ended 30 June 2022 was 18.05% (2021: 15.38%) versus an APRA prudential 
minimum of 15%. The Board approved policies addressing liquidity risk management ensure that adequate buffers, 
trigger points and contingency arrangements are in place. 

Refer to Notes 12 and 15 for maturity analysis of financial liabilities. 

  

LVRs 2022 2021 2022 2021
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

<= 25% 29              27              29              27              
>25% <=50% 11,952        3,256          11,952        3,256          
>50% <=70% 18,495        16,541        18,495        16,541        
>70% <=80% -             -             -             -             
>80% <=90% -             -             -             -             
>90% <=100% -             -             -             -             
>100% -             -             -             -             
Total commercial mortgages 30,476        19,824        30,476        19,824        

Consolidated Bank
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2 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

(c) Liquidity and funding risk (continued) 

 
  

Carrying 
amount

Gross 
nominal 
inflow / 

(outflow)

Less
than

1 month
1-3 

months
3-12 

months
1-5

years

More
than

5 years
Note $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Deposits 12 1,056,574  (1,059,770) (511,123)  (256,775)  (283,396)  (8,476)     -             
Bank borrowings 15 198,621     (201,702)    (4,551)     (6,500)     (154,638)  (36,013)    -             
Lease liability 15 4,904        (5,179)       (90)          (179)        (839)        (4,071)     -             

1,260,099  (1,266,651) (515,764)  (263,454)  (438,873)  (48,560)    -             

Carrying 
amount

Gross 
nominal 
inflow / 

(outflow)

Less
than

1 month
1-3 

months
3-12 

months
1-5

years

More
than

5 years
Note $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Deposits 12 804,029     (805,572)    (368,283)  (185,558)  (241,043)  (10,688)    -             
Bank borrowings 15 155,104     (156,270)    (2,834)     (2,227)     (105,020)  (46,189)    -             
Lease liability 15 5,888        (6,266)       (86)          (171)        (804)        (4,773)     (432)        
Derivative financial 
instruments 14 37             (32)            -             (11)          (21)          -             -             

965,058     (968,140)    (371,203)  (187,967)  (346,888)  (61,650)    (432)        

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities

Consolidated Entity

2022

2021
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2 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

(c) Liquidity and funding risk (continued) 

 
  

Carrying 
amount

Gross 
nominal 
inflow / 

(outflow)

Less
than

1 month
1-3 

months
3-12 

months
1-5

years

More
than

5 years
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Deposits 12 1,056,574  (1,059,770) (511,123)  (256,775)  (283,396)  (8,476)     -             
Bank borrowings 15 46,088      (46,189)     -             -             (10,176)    (36,013)    -             
Lease liability 15 4,904        (5,179)       (90)          (179)        (839)        (4,071)     -             
Inter-entity borrowings 15 170,457     (155,513)    (4,551)     (6,500)     (144,462)  -             -             

1,278,023  (1,266,651) (515,764)  (263,454)  (438,873)  (48,560)    -             

Carrying 
amount

Gross 
nominal 
inflow / 

(outflow)

Less
than

1 month
1-3 

months
3-12 

months
1-5

years

More
than

5 years
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Deposits 12 804,029     (805,572)    (368,283)  (185,558)  (241,043)  (10,688)    -             
Bank borrowings 15 46,000      (46,189)     -             -             -             (46,189)    -             
Lease liability 15 5,888        (6,266)       (86)          (171)        (804)        (4,773)     (432)        
Inter-entity borrowings 15 128,716     (110,081)    (2,834)     (2,227)     (105,020)  -             -             

984,633     (968,108)    (371,203)  (187,956)  (346,867)  (61,650)    (432)        

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities

Bank

2022

2021
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2 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

(d) Operational risk 

Operational risk is the risk of loss arising from inadequate or failed internal processes, people, and systems or from 
external events. 

The Consolidated Entity is exposed to operational risk primarily through: 
▪ Process execution errors 
▪ Cyber security losses 
▪ Technology failures 
▪ Data management issues 
▪ Model risks 
▪ Accounting, legal and taxation risks 
▪ Third parties 
▪ People (employment practice and workplace safety) 
▪ Fraud (external and internal); and 
▪ Non-technology business disruption. 

Key controls and risk mitigation strategies 

▪ Defined operational risk indicators in RAS 
▪ Implementation of manual and automated controls to prevent, detect and mitigate the specific operational risks 

that the Consolidated Entity is exposed to 
▪ Regular risk and control self-assessment to assess key risks and controls 
▪ Use of independent internal audit (Line 3) to assess whether controls are designed and operating effectively to 

maintain risk exposures within acceptable levels 
▪ Incident management processes to identify, assess, record, report and manage actual operational or compliance 

events that have occurred. This data is used to guide management to further strengthen processes and controls 
▪ Issue management processes to identify, assess, record, report and manage weaknesses or gaps in controls 
▪ Establishment of key risk indicators to monitor movements in risk exposures over time; and 
▪ Assurance undertaken by the Line 2 Risk team to assess whether operational risks are appropriately identified 

and managed by the Consolidated Entity. 
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2 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

(e) Fair value risk 

The Consolidated Entity uses various methods in estimating the fair value of a financial instrument. 

Accounting policy 

Fair value is the amount that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date. 
On initial recognition, the transaction price generally represents the fair value of the financial instrument, unless there is 
observable information from an active market that provides a more appropriate fair value. 
Determination of fair value 
The Consolidated Entity measures fair value using the following fair value hierarchy, which reflects the observability of 
the inputs used in measuring fair value: 
▪ Level 1: Those financial instruments valued using inputs that are unadjusted quoted prices for identical assets or 

liabilities in active markets where the quoted price is readily available, and the price represents actual and regularly 
occurring market transactions on an arms’ length basis. Financial instruments included in this category are cash and 
cash equivalents. 

▪ Level 2: Those financial instruments valued using inputs other than quoted prices as described for level 1, but which 
are observable for the asset or liability, either directly or indirectly. Such inputs include quoted prices for similar assets 
or liabilities in active markets, quoted prices for identical instruments in inactive markets and observable inputs other 
than quoted prices such as interest rates and yield curves, implied volatilities, and credit spreads. The valuation 
techniques include the use of discounted cash flow analysis and other market-accepted valuation models. Financial 
instruments included in this category are investments, deposits, derivative financial instruments, and borrowings 
(excluding the lease liability). 

▪ Level 3: Those financial instruments where the valuation incorporates significant inputs that are not based on 
observable market data (unobservable inputs). Unobservable inputs are those not readily available in an active 
market due to market liquidity or complexity of the instrument. These inputs are generally derived and extrapolated 
from observable inputs to match the risk profile of the financial instrument, and are calibrated against current market 
assumptions, historical transactions, and economic models, where available. These inputs may include timing and 
amount of future cash flows, rates of estimated credit losses, discount rates and volatility. Financial instruments 
included in this category are loans and advances, assets at fair value through profit and loss (reverse mortgages), 
and lease liabilities. 

Derivative financial instruments 

The Consolidated Entity uses interest rate swaps from various counterparties who have investment-grade credit 
ratings. The fair value is calculated as the present value of estimated future interest cash flows based on observable 
yield curves. Other inputs include the credit quality of counterparties and forward rates. 

Cash and investments 

The fair value for financial assets is based on the current quoted market price. For those assets where there is no 
quoted price the fair value is calculated as the present value of estimated future interest cash flows based on 
observable yield curves. 

Loans and advances 

The fair value is measured on a level 3 basis which is determined by adjusting the fixed rate loan portfolio for current 
market rates as at balance date. For variable rate loans, the carrying amount is a reasonable estimate of the fair 
value. Unobservable inputs used in calculating fair value include the timing and amount of future cash flows, rates 
of estimated credit losses, discount rates and volatility. The net fair value for fixed rate loans is calculated utilising 
discount cash flow models based on the maturity of the loans. The discount rates applied were based on current 
benchmark rates offered for the average remaining term of the portfolio as at 30 June 2022. 
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2 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

(e) Fair value risk (continued) 

Assets at fair value through profit and loss (Loans and advances) 

The fair value of reverse mortgages cannot be measured by reference to an active market or observable inputs. As 
such, the Consolidated Entity has used valuation techniques (income approach) to consider fair value. When the 
Consolidated Entity enters into a reverse mortgage, it has set expectations regarding the loan’s current and future 
risk profile and expectation of performance. This expectation references various assumptions including: 
▪ Age 
▪ Mortality and move to care 
▪ House price changes 
▪ No negative equity guarantee; and 
▪ Interest rate margin 

At balance date the Consolidated Entity does not consider any of the above assumptions to have moved outside of 
the original expectation range sufficient to have materially influenced the fair value of the portfolio. Therefore, the 
Consolidated Entity has continued to estimate the fair value of the portfolio at transaction price. There has been no 
fair value movement recognised in profit and loss during the year. Given the nature of the loan terms and tenor, the 
fair value as recorded is regarded as not being highly sensitive to the above assumptions, particularly to house 
prices and interest rates, that would impact the fair value at balance date. While noting the uncertainty around future 
economic events, based on current judgement there is no evidence that these will have a long-term adverse impact 
on market conditions, particularly regarding the key elements of house prices or interest rates, that would materially 
influence the fair value of the reverse mortgage portfolio at balance date. The Consolidated Entity will continue to 
reassess the existence of a relevant market and movements in assumptions on an ongoing basis. 

Deposits and borrowings 

Due to the short-term nature of deposits and borrowings, the carrying amount (amortised cost) of the Consolidated 
Entity’s bank facility balances, including overdraft, approximate their fair value. 

 
  

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Financial assets 
measured at amortised 
cost
Cash 54,491 -           -           54,491      38,493 -        -        38,493      
Investments -      224,286    -           224,286    -      140,995 -        140,995    
Loans and advances -      -           1,020,795 1,020,795 -      -        877,827 877,827    
Financial assets 
measured at fair value 
through profit and loss
Loans and advances -      -           56,942      56,942      -      -        16,604  16,604      
Financial assets 54,491 224,286    1,077,737 1,356,514 38,493 140,995 894,431 1,073,919 

Consolidated Entity
2022 2021
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2 RISK MANAGEMENT (continued) 

(e) Fair value risk (continued) 

 

 
There were no transfers between Level 1, Level 2, and Level 3 during the year. 

  

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Financial assets 
measured at amortised 
cost
Cash 48,237 -           -           48,237      35,168 -        -        35,168      
Investments -      244,839    -           244,839    -      161,548 -        161,548    
Loans and advances -      -           1,020,795 1,020,795 -      -        877,827 877,827    
Financial assets 
measured at fair value 
through profit and loss
Loans and advances -      -           56,942      56,942      -      -        16,604  16,604      
Financial assets 48,237 244,839    1,077,737 1,370,813 35,168 161,548 894,431 1,091,147 

Bank
2022 2021

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Financial liabilities
Deposits -      1,054,342 -           1,054,342 -      804,324 -        804,324    
Derivative financial
instruments -      -           -           -           -      37         -        37            

Borrowings -      198,621    4,904        203,525    -      155,104 5,888    160,992    
Financial liabilities -      1,252,963 4,904        1,257,867 -      959,465 5,888    965,353    

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Financial liabilities
Deposits -      1,054,342 -           1,054,342 -      804,324 -        804,324    
Borrowings -      46,088      4,904        50,992      -      46,000  5,888    51,888      
Inter-entity borrowings -      170,457    -           170,457    -      128,716 -        128,716    
Financial liabilities -      1,270,887 4,904        1,275,791 -      979,040 5,888    984,928    

Consolidated Entity
2022 2021

Bank
2022 2021
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3 INCOME AND EXPENSES 
 

  

2022 2021 2022 2021
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

(a) Interest income and interest expense

Interest income
Loans and advances to members 26,254      26,834      26,253      26,834      
Investment securities 1,599        1,311        1,944        1,641        
Deposits at call with other financial institutions 42             35             39             33             
Total interest income 27,895      28,180      28,236      28,508      

Interest expense
Deposits 5,248        6,025        5,247        6,025        
Borrowings 1,925        1,981        219           224           
Inter-entity borrowings -               -               2,052        2,087        
Total interest expense 7,173        8,006        7,518        8,336        

(b) Non-interest income
Fees and commissions 1,725        1,041        1,452        796           
Bad debts recovered 204           293           204           293           
Government grants -               50             -               50             
Total non-interest income 1,929        1,384        1,656        1,139        

(c) Administration expenses
Lending expenses 1,047        465           1,047        465           
Transactional expenses 836           830           587           614           
Other administration expenses 2,325        2,114        2,297        2,083        
Total administration expenses 4,208        3,409        3,931        3,162        

(d) Employee expenses
Salaries and wages 7,366        6,513        7,366        6,513        
Workers' compensation 14             12             14             12             
Defined contribution superannuation 713           614           713           614           
Other employee benefits 609           440           609           440           
Total employee expenses 8,702        7,579        8,702        7,579        

(e) Depreciation and amortisation expense
Depreciation of:
- Property, plant and equipment 1,467        1,456        1,467        1,456        
Total depreciation expense 1,467        1,456        1,467        1,456        

Amortisation of:
- Computer software 214           220           214           220           
Total amortisation expense 214           220           214           220           

Total depreciation and amortisation expense 1,681        1,676        1,681        1,676        

Consolidated Bank
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3 INCOME AND EXPENSES (continued) 
 

 

Accounting policy 

Net interest income 
Interest income and interest expense on financial assets and liabilities are measured using the effective interest method. 
The effective interest method calculates the amortised cost of a financial instrument, such as a loan or deposit, and 
allocates the interest income or interest expense over the expected life of the financial instrument. 
Fees, transaction costs and issue costs integral to the financial assets and liabilities are capitalised and included in the 
interest recognised over the expected life of the instrument. 
Non-interest income 
Non-interest income includes fees and commissions earned from delivering a range of services to members. Facility 
fees earned for managing and administering credit and other facilities for members, are recognised over the service 
period. 
Operating expenses 
Employee expenses includes salaries and related on-costs namely annual leave, long service leave, employee 
incentives and relevant taxes. Staff expenses are recognised over the period the employee renders the service. Long 
service leave is discounted to present value using assumptions relating to staff departures, leave utilisation and future 
salary. 
Superannuation expense includes expenses relating to defined contribution superannuation plans. The defined 
contribution expense is recognised in the period the service is provided. 
IT expenses are recognised as incurred unless they qualify for capitalisation as computer software due to the 
expenditure generating probable future economic benefits. If capitalised, the computer software is subsequently 
amortised over its estimated useful life. At each balance date, the Consolidated Entity assesses useful lives and residual 
values and whether there is any objective evidence of impairment. If an asset’s carrying value is greater than its 
recoverable amount, the carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount. 
Operating expenses are recognised as services are provided to the Consolidated Entity, over the period which an asset 
is consumed, or once a liability is created. Operating expenses related to provisions are recognised for present 
obligations arising from past events where a payment to settle the obligation is probable and can be reliably estimated. 
Goods and Services Tax (GST) 
Income, expenses, and assets are recognised net of GST, except where: 
▪ the GST incurred on a purchase of goods and services is not recoverable from the taxation authority. In this instance 

GST is included in the cost of acquisition of the asset or as part of the expense incurred; and 
▪ the receivables and payables are stated inclusive of GST. 
Net GST recoverable or payable is recognised as a receivable or payable respectively in the Statements of Financial 
Position. 
Impairment expense 
Impairment losses are written-off in the Statements of Comprehensive Income as an expense when there is no realistic 
probability of recovery. 

2022 2021 2022 2021
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

(f) Impairment expense/(benefit)
Decrease in loan impairment provision (438)          (849)          (438)          (849)          
Bad debts written-off 509           687           509           687           
Total impairment expense/(benefit) 71             (162)          71             (162)          

Consolidated Bank
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4 INCOME TAX 

 

Accounting policy 

Income tax 
Income tax on profit or loss for the period comprises current and deferred tax. 
Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted at balance date, 
and any adjustment to the tax payable in respect of previous years. 
Deferred tax is calculated using the Balance Sheet method where temporary differences are identified by comparing 
the carrying amount of assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and their tax bases. 
The amount of deferred tax recognised is based on the expected manner of realisation or settlement of the carrying 
amount of assets and liabilities (i.e., through use or sale), using tax rates which are expected to apply when the deferred 
tax asset is realised, or the deferred tax liability is settled. 
A deferred tax asset can only be recognised to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available 
for it to be used against. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset as they relate to income tax levied by the same 
taxation authority on the same taxable entity. 

  

2022 2021 2022 2021
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

(a) Income tax expense
The major components of income tax expense are:
Statement of Comprehensive Income
Current income tax

- Current income tax charge 1,317        1,529        1,317        1,529        
- Deferred tax (benefit)/expense (7)             160           (7)             160           

Income tax expense reported in the Statements of 
Comprehensive Income 1,310        1,689        1,310        1,689        

(b) Reconciliation between aggregate tax expense 
recognised in the Statements of Comprehensive Income 
and tax expense calculated per the statutory income tax 
rate
A reconciliation between tax expense and the product of 
accounting profit before tax multiplied by the Bank's applicable 
income tax rate is as follows:

Total accounting profit before income tax 5,220        6,392        5,220        6,392        

At the Bank's statutory income tax rate of 25%
(2021: 26%) 1,305        1,662        1,305        1,662        

Adjustments in respect of current income tax of previous years 3              -               3              -               
Adjustments in respect of deferred tax of previous years -               (6)             -               (6)             
Effect of changes in income tax rate on deferred tax -               43             -               43             
Non assessable government grants -               (13)            -               (13)            
Non-deductible expenses 2              3              2              3              
Aggregate income tax expense 1,310        1,689        1,310        1,689        

Consolidated Bank
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4 INCOME TAX (continued) 

 
  

2022 2021 2022 2021
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

(c) Recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities
Deferred tax at 30 June relates to the following:
Statements of Financial Position
(i) Deferred tax liabilities

- Other assets -               -               -               -               
- Plant and equipment (192)          (212)          (192)          (212)          
- Right-of-use asset (1,135)       (1,412)       (1,135)       (1,412)       

Gross deferred tax liabilities (1,327)       (1,624)       (1,327)       (1,624)       

(ii) Deferred income tax assets
- Loans and advances 427           536           427           536           
- Creditors and other liabilities 507           490           507           490           
- Employee entitlements 287           238           287           238           
- Lease Liability 1,225        1,472        1,225        1,472        

Gross deferred tax assets 2,446        2,736        2,446        2,736        

Offset of deferred tax liabilities (1,327)       (1,624)       (1,327)       (1,624)       
Net deferred tax assets 1,119        1,112        1,119        1,112        

Statements of Comprehensive Income
Deferred income tax charge

- Other assets -               (61)            -               (61)            
- Loans and advances 109           287           109           287           
- Plant and equipment (20)            (28)            (20)            (28)            
- Creditors and other liabilities (17)            (9)             (17)            (9)             
- Employee entitlements (49)            20             (49)            20             
- Right-of-use asset (277)          (436)          (277)          (436)          
- Lease Liability 247           387           247           387           

Deferred tax income (7)             160           (7)             160           

Consolidated Bank
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FINANCIAL ASSETS 

Accounting policy 

Financial assets – General 
There are three measurement classifications for financial assets under AASB 9 Financial Instruments, namely 
amortised cost, fair value through profit and loss (FVTPL), and fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI). 
Financial assets are classified into these measurement classifications based on two criteria: 
▪ the business model within which the financial asset is managed; and 
▪ the contractual cash flow characteristics of the financial asset (specifically whether the contractual cash flows 

represent Solely Payments of Principal and Interest (SPPI)). 
The resultant financial asset classifications are as follows: 
▪ Amortised cost, financial assets with contractual cash flows that comprise SPPI, and which are held in a business 

model whose objective is to collect their cash flows 
▪ FVOCI, financial assets with contractual cash flows that comprise SPPI, and which are held in a business model 

whose objective is to collect their cash flows or to sell the assets; and 
▪ FVTPL, any other financial assets not falling into the categories above are measured at FVTPL. 
Fair value option for financial assets 

A financial asset may be irrevocably designated as FVTPL on initial recognition when the designation eliminates or 
significantly reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise. 
Business model assessment 

The Consolidated Entity determines its business model at the level that best reflects how it manages groups of financial 
assets to achieve its business objective: 
▪ The risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within that business 

model) and the way those risks are managed; and 
▪ How managers of the business are compensated (for example, whether the compensation is based on the fair 

value of the assets managed or on the contractual cash flows collected). 
The expected frequency, value and timing of sales are also important aspects of the Consolidated Entity’s assessment. 
The business model assessment is based on reasonably expected scenarios without taking 'worst case' or 'stress case’ 
scenarios into account. If cash flows after initial recognition are realised in a way that is different from the Consolidated 
Entity's original expectations, the Consolidated Entity does not change the classification of the remaining financial 
assets held in that business model but incorporates such information when assessing newly originated or newly 
purchased financial assets going forward. 
The SPPI test 

As a second step of its classification process the Consolidated Entity assesses the contractual terms of the financial 
asset to identify whether they meet the SPPI test. 
Principal for the purpose of this test is defined as the fair value of the financial asset at initial recognition and may 
change over the life of the financial asset (for example, if there are repayments of principal or amortisation of the 
premium/discount).   
The most significant elements of interest within a lending arrangement are typically the consideration for the time value 
of money and credit risk. To make the SPPI assessment, the Consolidated Entity applies judgement and considers 
relevant factors such as the period for which the interest rate is set. 
In contrast, contractual terms that introduce a more than de minimis exposure to risks or volatility in the contractual 
cash flows that are unrelated to a basic lending arrangement do not give rise to contractual cash flows that are solely 
payments of principal and interest on the amount outstanding. In such cases, the financial asset is required to be 
measured at FVTPL. 
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FINANCIAL ASSETS (CONTINUED) 

Accounting policy (continued) 

Derecognition 

The Consolidated Entity derecognises a loan to a customer, when the rights to receive cash flows from the financial 
asset have expired. The Consolidated Entity also derecognises the financial asset if it has both transferred the financial 
asset and the transfer qualifies for derecognition.  
The Consolidated Entity has transferred the financial asset if, and only if, either: 
▪ The Consolidated Entity has transferred its contractual rights to receive cash flows from the financial asset; or 
▪ It retains the rights to the cash flows but has assumed an obligation to pay the received cash flows in full without 

material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement. 
Pass-through arrangements are transactions whereby the Consolidated Entity retains the contractual rights to receive 
the cash flows of a financial asset (the 'original asset'), but assumes a contractual obligation to pay those cash flows to 
one or more entities (the 'eventual recipients'), when all of the following three conditions are met: 
▪ The Consolidated Entity has no obligation to pay amounts to the eventual recipients unless it has collected 

equivalent amounts from the original asset, excluding short-term advances with the right to full recovery of the 
amount lent plus accrued interest at market rates. 

▪ The Consolidated Entity cannot sell or pledge the original asset other than as security to the eventual recipients. 
▪ The Consolidated Entity has to remit any cash flows it collects on behalf of the eventual recipients without material 

delay. In addition, the Consolidated Entity is not entitled to reinvest such cash flows, except for investments in cash 
or cash equivalents, including interest earned, during the period between the collection date and the date of required 
remittance to the eventual recipients.  

A transfer only qualifies for derecognition if either: 
▪ The Consolidated Entity has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset; or 
▪ The Consolidated Entity has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset but 

has transferred control of the asset. 
The Consolidated Entity considers control to be transferred if and only if, the transferee has the practical ability to sell 
the asset in its entirety to an unrelated third party and is able to exercise that ability unilaterally and without imposing 
additional restrictions on the transfer. 
When the Consolidated Entity has neither transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards and has 
retained control of the asset, the Consolidated Entity continues to recognise the financial asset to the extent of its 
continuing involvement in the financial asset. Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the 
transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of 
consideration the Consolidated Entity could be required to pay. 
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5 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 

 
(1) Includes $0.630 million (2021: $0.950 million) cash in Peer-to-Peer Lending platforms, and $15.133 million (2021: $11.648 million) of cash 

in Portavia Trust No.1 and Portavia Trust No.2 not readily available and subject to restrictions of the respective Trust Deeds. 

Cash at bank earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank deposit rates depending on product category. 

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents approximates fair value. 

Short-term deposits are made for varying periods of between one day and three months, depending on the 
immediate cash requirements of the Consolidated Entity, and earns interest at the respective short-term rates.   

Accounting policy 

Cash and cash equivalents 
Cash and cash equivalents include cash at bank and on hand, short-term bills, and money at call with an original maturity 
of three months or less. Cash and cash equivalents are initially measured at fair value then subsequently at amortised 
cost. Interest is recognised in the Statements of Comprehensive Income using the effective interest method. 
Cash and cash equivalents also include cash within Portavia Trust No.1 and Portavia Trust No.2, which are subject to 
restriction. 
For the purpose of the Statements of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are defined as cash and cash equivalents 
net of outstanding bank overdrafts. Whereas, for the purpose of the Statements of Financial Position bank overdrafts are 
included within interest-bearing loans and borrowings. 

  

2022 2021 2022 2021
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Cash on hand 1              1              1              1              
Cash at bank (1) 30,941      23,088      24,687      19,763      
Deposits at call with financial institutions 23,549      15,404      23,549      15,404      
Cash and cash equivalents 54,491      38,493      48,237      35,168      

Consolidated Bank
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6 INVESTMENTS 

 
(1) The Bank holds $20,553,025 (2021: $20,553,025) in sub-ordinated notes issued by Portavia Trust No.1 as part of a contingency liquidity 

facility. These investments are eliminated on consolidation. 

Accounting policy 

Investments 
Investments include debt securities held as part of the Consolidated Entity’s liquidity portfolio. 
These investments are held within the business model where the objective is to hold them in order to collect contractual 
cash flows. The contractual cash flows on these financial assets comprise payments of principal and interest only. These 
securities are initially recognised at their fair value plus directly attributable transaction costs. 
Subsequent to initial recognition, they are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method and presented 
net of any provisions for impairment. 
The securities are assessed for impairment using the expected credit loss approach described in Note 8. Impairment is 
recognised in the Impairment expense line in the Statements of Comprehensive Income. 

  

2022 2021 2022 2021
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Negotiable Certificates of Deposits 151,470     66,982      151,470     66,982      
Floating Rate Notes (1) 55,160      63,227      75,713      83,780      
Term Deposits 678           650           678           650           
Debt investments at amortised cost 16,978      10,136      16,978      10,136      
Investments 224,286     140,995     244,839     161,548     

Maturity analysis: Investments
< 3 months 102,856     65,052      102,856     65,052      
3 to 6 months 54,026      12,995      54,026      12,995      
6 to 12 months 16,012      12,673      36,565      33,226      
> 1 year 51,392      50,275      51,392      50,275      
Investments 224,286     140,995     244,839     161,548     

Consolidated Bank
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7 LOANS AND ADVANCES 

 
(1) Cash flows are based on contractual obligations. 

Credit risk adjustments on financial assets designated as FVTPL 

There were no credit risk adjustments on individual financial assets. 

  

2022 2021 2022 2021
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Loans and advances measured at fair value through 
profit and loss
Lines of credit 56,942      16,604      56,942      16,604      
Sub-total 56,942      16,604      56,942      16,604      

Loans and advances measured at amortised cost
Lines of credit 18,185      21,149      18,185      21,149      
Term loans 1,016,607  855,966     1,016,607  855,966     
Sub-total 1,034,792  877,115     1,034,792  877,115     
Gross loans and advances 1,091,734  893,719     1,091,734  893,719     
Add:

- Gross fees and commissions capitalised 12,666      10,285      12,666      10,285      
- Accumulated amortisation (9,805)       (8,569)       (9,805)       (8,569)       

Net commissions capitalised 2,861        1,716        2,861        1,716        
Allowance for impairment loss (1,706)       (2,144)       (1,706)       (2,144)       
Net loans and advances 1,092,889  893,291     1,092,889  893,291     

Security dissection
- Secured by mortgage 1,060,092  850,152     1,060,092  850,152     
- Secured other 13,181      15,770      13,181      15,770      
- Unsecured 18,461      27,797      18,461      27,797      
Gross loans and advances 1,091,734  893,719     1,091,734  893,719     

Purpose dissection
- Residential loans 972,674     813,724     972,674     813,724     
- Personal loans 78,537      50,124      78,537      50,124      
- Commercial loans 40,523      29,871      40,523      29,871      
Gross loans and advances 1,091,734  893,719     1,091,734  893,719     

Maturity analysis: Gross loans and advances (1)

< 3 months 3,060        107           3,060        107           
3 to 12 months 30,706      16,748      30,706      16,748      
1 - 5 years 38,791      42,466      38,791      42,466      
> 5 years 1,019,177  834,398     1,019,177  834,398     
Gross loans and advances 1,091,734  893,719     1,091,734  893,719     

Consolidated Bank
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7 LOANS AND ADVANCES (continued) 

 

The fair values are based on cash flows discounted at a rate reflecting current market rates adjusted for counterparty 
credit risk. 

Accounting policy 

Loans and advances measured at FVTPL 
Reverse mortgages are initially recognised and subsequently measured at FVTPL, per Note 2(e). 
Loans and advances measured at amortised cost 
Loans and advances are held within a business model whose objective is to hold them in order to collect contractual 
cash flows. The contractual cash flows on these financial assets comprise solely payments of principal and interest. 
These instruments are accordingly measured at amortised cost. 
Loans and advances are recognised on settlement date, i.e., when funds are transferred to the members’ accounts. 
They are initially recognised at their fair value plus directly attributable transaction costs, primarily brokerage and loan 
origination fees. 
Subsequent to initial recognition, they are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method and presented 
net of provisions for impairment. 
For the accounting policy for provisions for impairment, refer to Note 8. For information on the Consolidated Entity’s 
management of credit risk, refer to Note 2(b). 

 

2022 2021 2022 2021
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

(a) Concentration of loans
Geographic areas: Residence and/or employed within:

- New South Wales 586,235     477,092     586,235     477,092     
- Victoria 228,429     188,852     228,429     188,852     
- Queensland 175,016     133,307     175,016     133,307     
- Western Australia 37,598      32,805      37,598      32,805      
- South Australia 31,396      29,775      31,396      29,775      
- Northern Territory 354           1,037        354           1,037        
- Tasmania 6,561        5,665        6,561        5,665        
- Australian Capital Territory 26,145      25,186      26,145      25,186      

Gross loans and advances 1,091,734  893,719     1,091,734  893,719     

(b) Fair value
The carrying amount  of loans and advances are as follows:

- Lines of credit 75,127      37,753      75,127      37,753      
- Term loans 1,016,607  855,966     1,016,607  855,966     

Gross loans and advances 1,091,734  893,719     1,091,734  893,719     

The fair values  of loans and advances are as follows:
- Lines of credit 75,127      37,753      75,127      37,753      
- Term loans 1,002,610  856,678     1,002,610  856,678     

Gross loans and advances 1,077,737  894,431     1,077,737  894,431     

Consolidated Bank

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 30 June 2022



Gateway Bank Annual Report & Financial Statement 202244

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
For the year ended 30 June 2022 
 

44 
 

8 PROVISION FOR IMPAIRMENT 

A decrease in allowance for impairment loss of $438,000 (2021: decrease of $849,000) has been recognised within 
the impairment expense/benefit in the Statements of Comprehensive Income.  This provision is in respect of specific 
debtors and debtors assessed on a collective basis, as described in the accounting policy section of this note. 

      

          (1)    Carrying amount of loans and advances measured at amortised cost. 

2022 2021 2022 2021
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Provision for impairment
Balance at beginning of period 2,144        2,993        2,144        2,993        
Additional individually assessed impairment 81             552           81             552           
Loans written-off (129)          (386)          (129)          (386)          
Reversal of individually assessed impairment (223)          (231)          (223)          (231)          
Changes to modelling assumptions 17             88             17             88             
Decrease in collective impairment (184)          (872)          (184)          (872)          
Balance at end of period 1,706        2,144        1,706        2,144        

Individually assessed impairment 155           435           155           435           
Collective impairment 1,551        1,709        1,551        1,709        
Total provision for impairment 1,706        2,144        1,706        2,144        

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

2022 12 month
ECL

Lifetime
ECL

Lifetime
ECL

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Gross carrying amount as at 1 July 2021 866,768     5,959        4,388        877,115     
New loans originated 389,349     -               -               389,349     
Payments and assets derecognised (excluding write-offs) (224,720)    (3,364)       (3,175)       (231,259)    
Transfers to Stage 1 2,274        (1,903)       (371)          -               
Transfers to Stage 2 (3,337)       3,337        -               -               
Transfers to Stage 3 (1,139)       (168)          1,307        -               
Amounts written-off -               -               (413)          (413)          
At 30 June 2022 1,029,195  3,861        1,736        1,034,792  

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

2021 12 month
ECL

Lifetime
ECL

Lifetime
ECL

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Gross carrying amount as at 1 July 2020 855,228     56,716      3,430        915,374     
New loans originated 206,324     -               -               206,324     
Payments and assets derecognised (excluding write-offs) (230,996)    (10,706)     (2,216)       (243,918)    
Transfers to Stage 1 41,375      (41,052)     (323)          -               
Transfers to Stage 2 (3,691)       3,691        -               -               
Transfers to Stage 3 (1,472)       (2,690)       4,162        -               
Amounts written-off -               -               (665)          (665)          
At 30 June 2021 866,768     5,959        4,388        877,115     

Consolidated Entity and Bank

Total (1)

Total (1)

Consolidated Entity and Bank

Consolidated Bank
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8 PROVISION FOR IMPAIRMENT (continued) 
 

 

The estimation of the fair value of collateral and other security enhancements held against loans and advances in 
arrears is shown below: 

 
(1) The fair value of collateral held for loans less than 30 days past due exceeds the carrying value of loans. 

Management monitors the market value of collateral obtained during its review of the adequacy of the allowance for 
impairment losses. 

  

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

2022 12 month
ECL

Lifetime
ECL

Lifetime
ECL

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

ECL allowance as at 1 July 2021 1,542        178           424           2,144        
New loans originated 38             -               -               38             
Loans repaid (170)          (91)            (223)          (484)          
Transfers to Stage 1 21             (37)            (31)            (47)            
Transfers to Stage 2 (6)             93             (6)             81             
Transfers to Stage 3 (6)             (25)            117           86             
Write-offs -               -               (129)          (129)          
Changes to modelling assumptions 24             10             (17)            17             
At 30 June 2022 1,443        128           135           1,706        

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3

2021 12 month
ECL

Lifetime
ECL

Lifetime
ECL

$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

ECL allowance as at 1 July 2020 761           1,743        489           2,993        
New loans originated 51             -               -               51             
Loans repaid (242)          (464)          (231)          (937)          
Transfers to Stage 1 36             (155)          (30)            (149)          
Transfers to Stage 2 (7)             140           -               133           
Transfers to Stage 3 (6)             (226)          583           351           
Write-offs -               -               (386)          (386)          
Changes to modelling assumptions 949           (860)          (1)             88             
At 30 June 2021 1,542        178           424           2,144        

Consolidated Entity and Bank

Total

Total

Consolidated Entity and Bank

2022 2021 2022 2021
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Past due 30 days and over (1)         5,519       11,074         5,519       11,074 

Consolidated Bank
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8 PROVISION FOR IMPAIRMENT (continued) 

Impact of overlays on the provision for impairment 

The following table reflects the split between modelled ECL and other economic overlays. 

Where there is increased uncertainty regarding the forward-looking economic conditions under AASB 9 or limitations 
of the historical data used to calibrate the model to current stressed environments, overlays are typically used to 
address areas of potential risk not captured in the underlying modelled ECL. 

 

Accounting policy 

Provision for impairment 
By providing loans to members the Consolidated Entity bears the risk that the future circumstances of members might 
change, including their ability to repay their loans in part or in full. While the Consolidated Entity’s credit and responsible 
lending policies aim to minimise this risk, there will always be instances where the Consolidated Entity will not receive 
the full amount owed and hence a provision for expected credit loss is necessary. 
Expected Credit Loss (ECL) model 

The ECL model applies to all financial assets measured at amortised cost or FVOCI. These include cash and cash 
equivalents, deposits with other ADIs, investment debt securities and loans and advances to customers. Financial 
assets are divided into homogenous portfolios based on shared risk characteristics. These include on-balance sheet 
residential mortgages, commercial mortgages, commercial loans, peer-to-peer lending, personal loans and lines of 
credit and off-balance sheet undrawn commitments. 
For investment debt securities and deposits with other ADIs, the Consolidated Entity has applied the AASB 9 ‘low credit 
risk’ exemption given their credit risk rating is equivalent to the globally understood definition of ‘investment grade’.  
Model stages 

The ECL model uses a three-stage approach to the recognition of expected credit losses. Financial assets migrate 
through these three stages based on significant changes in credit risk since origination: 
▪ Stage 1: Performing loans – 12 months ECL 

On origination, financial assets recognise an impairment provision equivalent to 12 months ECL, which represents 
the credit losses expected to arise from defaults occurring over the next 12 months. 

▪ Stage 2: Performing loans that have experienced a Significant Increase in Credit Risk (SICR) – Lifetime ECL 
Financial assets that have experienced a SICR are transferred to Stage 2 and recognise an impairment provision 
equivalent to lifetime ECL. Lifetime ECL represents the credit losses expected to arise from defaults occurring over 
the remaining life of financial assets. 

▪ Stage 3: Non-performing loans – Lifetime ECL 
Financial assets in default recognise a provision equivalent to lifetime ECL. This includes assets that are considered 
impaired as well as assets that are considered to be in default but are not impaired because, for example, no loss 
is expected based on the security position. 

Assets may move in both directions through the stages of the impairment model. Assets previously in Stage 2 may 
move back to Stage 1 if it is no longer considered that there has been a SICR, and the impairment provision reverts to 
12 months ECL. Similarly, assets in Stage 3 may move back to Stage 1 or Stage 2 if they are no longer assessed to 
be non-performing. 

2022 2021 2022 2021
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Modelled provision for ECL 696           1,060        696           1,060        
Overlays 1,010        1,084        1,010        1,084        
Total provision for ECL 1,706        2,144        1,706        2,144        

Consolidated Bank
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8 PROVISION FOR IMPAIRMENT (continued) 

Accounting policy (continued) 

Collective and individual assessment 

Credit losses for financial assets in Stage 1 and Stage 2 are assessed for impairment collectively, whilst those in Stage 
3 are subjected to either collective or individual assessment of expected credit losses. 
Significant Increase in Credit Risk (SICR) 

When determining whether the risk of default on a financial instrument has increased significantly since origination, the 
Consolidated Entity uses the criteria of 30 days past due or loans under credit watch as the criteria to identify whether 
there has been a SICR. Default occurs when there are indicators that a debtor is unlikely to meet contractual credit 
obligations to the Consolidated Entity in full, or the exposure is 90 days past due. Financial assets, including those that 
are well secured, are considered credit impaired when they default. 
Measurement of ECL 

The ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of the cash shortfalls expected to result from defaults over the relevant 
timeframe. They are determined by evaluating a range of possible outcomes and taking into account the time value of 
money, past events, current conditions, and forecasts of future economic conditions. 
The ECL is calculated as the product of the following credit risk factors at a facility level, discounted to incorporate the 
time value of money: 
▪ Probability of Default (PD) – the estimate of the likelihood that a borrower will default over a given period 
▪ Exposure at Default (EAD) – the expected balance sheet exposure at default taking into account repayments of 

principal and interest, expected additional drawdowns and accrued interest; and 
▪ Loss Given Default (LGD) – the expected loss in the event of the borrower defaulting, expressed as a percentage 

of the facility’s EAD, taking into account direct and indirect recovery costs. 
These credit risk factors are adjusted for current and forward-looking information through the use of macro-economic 
variables. 
Expected life 

When estimating ECL exposures in Stage 2 and 3, the Consolidated Entity considered the expected lifetime over which 
it is exposed to credit risk. The expected lifetime is determined using a behavioural term, taking into account expected 
prepayment behaviour and substantial modifications. 
Forward-looking macroeconomic information 

The measurement of ECL for each stage and the assessment of SICR consider information about past events and 
current conditions as well as reasonable and supportable projections of future events and economic conditions. The 
estimation of forward-looking information is a critical accounting judgement. The Consolidated Entity considers three 
future macroeconomic scenarios, including a base case scenario along with upside and downside scenarios. 
The macroeconomic variables used in these scenarios, based on current economic forecasts, include Gross Domestic 
Product (GDP) growth rates, movements in the official Cash Rate, Unemployment rates, and annual changes in the 
ASX All-Ordinaries Index. 
▪ Base case scenario is the Consolidated Entity’s view of the most likely future macro-economic conditions. It 

reflects management’s assumptions used for strategic planning and budgeting. 
▪ Upside scenario is based on more optimistic economic events than the base case scenario 
▪ Downside scenario is a more severe scenario with ECL higher than those under the current base case scenario. 
The macroeconomic scenarios are weighted based on the Consolidated Entity’s best estimate of the relative likelihood 
of each scenario. The requirement to probability-weight future outcomes captures the uncertainty inherent in the credit 
outlook. The weighting applied to each of the three scenarios is based on management’s best estimate of the proportion 
of potential future loss outcomes that each scenario represents, and takes into account historical frequency, current 
trends, and forward-looking conditions. 
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8 PROVISION FOR IMPAIRMENT (continued) 

Accounting policy (continued) 

Forward-looking macroeconomic information (continued) 

Where applicable, model adjustments are made to incorporate reasonable and supportable information about known 
or expected risks that have not been considered in the modelling process. This includes but is not limited to information 
about emerging risk at a geographical location or a particular portfolio segment level. Judgements can change with time 
as new information becomes available, which could result in changes to the provision for ECL. 
The Executive Risk and Compliance Committee (ERCC) and Board Risk Committee are responsible for approving 
macroeconomic variables and probability weightings of the three macroeconomic scenarios, as well as all model 
refinements. The Consolidated Entity’s loan loss provision model and assumptions, loan impairment expense and all 
areas of judgement are reported to the Board.  

Key judgements and estimates 

Individually assessed allowance for ECL 
In estimating individually assessed ECL for Stage 3 exposures, the Consolidated Entity makes judgements and 
assumptions in relation to expected repayments, the realisable value of collateral, the business or employment 
prospects for the member, competing claims, and the likely cost and duration of the work-out process.  
Collectively assessed allowance for ECL 
Along with the continued uncertainty created by COVID-19, new external risks are emerging, including mounting 
geopolitical tensions, global supply chain disruptions, the conflict in Ukraine, and commodity price pressures. These 
risks have been considered and are reflected in the modelling assumptions. 
During the financial year ended 30 June 2022 the collectively assessed provision decreased from $1.71 million to 
$1.55 million. This reduction in the collective provision in the current financial year was driven by a net decrease in 
overlays and run-off of the Alliance loan portfolio, partly offset by changes in modelling inputs. 
In estimating collectively assessed ECL, the Consolidated Entity makes judgements and assumptions in relation to the 
selection of: 
▪ a modelling methodology; and 
▪ inputs for the model, including interdependencies between those inputs. 
Key judgements and assumptions, and changes 
Determining when a SICR has occurred 
Judgement is involved in setting the rules and trigger points to determine whether there has been a SICR since initial 
recognition of a loan. The effectiveness of SICR criteria is monitored on an ongoing basis. The Consolidated Entity 
uses the criteria of 30 days past due or loans under credit watch as the criteria for determining whether there has been 
a SICR. 
There have been no changes to the rules and trigger points used to determine whether a SICR has occurred in the 
year ended 30 June 2022. 

Measuring both 12-month and lifetime ECLs 

The PD, LGD and EAD credit risk parameters used in determining ECL are point-in-time measures reflecting forward-
looking information determined by management. Judgement is involved in determining which forward-looking 
information variables are relevant for particular lending portfolios. 
The PD, EAD and LGD models are subject to the Consolidated Entity’s policies that stipulate periodic model monitoring, 
periodic revalidation and defines approval procedures and authorities. There were no material changes to the policies 
during the year end 30 June 2022. 
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8 PROVISION FOR IMPAIRMENT (continued) 

Key judgements and estimates (continued) 

Key judgements and assumptions, and changes (continued) 
Measuring both 12-month and lifetime ECLs (continued) 

In addition, judgement is required where behavioural characteristics are applied in estimating the lifetime of a facility to 
be used in measuring ECL. 
There were no material changes to behavioural lifetime estimates during the year ended 30 June 2022. 

Base case economic forecast 
The Consolidated Entity derives a forward-looking base case economic scenario which reflects its view of the most 
likely future macro-economic conditions. 
There have been no changes to the types of forward-looking variables (key economic drivers) used as model inputs in 
the current year. 

As at 30 June 2022, the base case assumptions have been updated to reflect the evolving economic climate. This 
includes an assessment of central bank policies, governments’ actions, and the response of regulators and business. 

Probability weightings of macroeconomic scenarios 
Probability weighting of each economic scenario is determined by management considering the risks and uncertainties 
surrounding the base case economic scenario at each measurement date. 
The Consolidated Entity continued to implement a modelled approach incorporating historical, current, and forward-
looking macroeconomic indicators to determine the probability weightings. 

Management temporary adjustments 

Management temporary adjustments to the allowance for impairment are used in circumstances where it is judged that 
the existing inputs, assumptions, and model methodology do not capture all the risk factors relevant to the Consolidated 
Entity’s lending portfolios. The use of management temporary adjustments may impact the amount of ECL recognised. 
The uncertainty associated with the new emerging risks are not fully incorporated into the existing ECL model. 
Accordingly, management overlays have been applied to ensure provisions are appropriate. These overlays, which add 
to the modelled ECL provision have been made for risks particular to less seasoned products, for loan portfolios in run-
off, and products where the risk profile has been increased in part by the extent of growth experienced in the current 
year and uncertainties driven by macro-economic changes. 

The table below reflects the sensitivity of the ECL allowance to key factors used in determining it. 

ECL sensitivity (weightings applied to scenarios) 

 Total ECL 
$’000 

Impact 
$’000 

Reported probability weighted ECL 1,706 -  
100% Upside scenario ECL 1,281 (425) 
100% Central (base case) scenario ECL 1,494 (212) 
100% Downside scenario ECL 2,078 372  
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9 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 

  

2022 2021 2022 2021
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Plant and equipment
At cost 558           676           558           676           
Accumulated depreciation (284)          (480)          (284)          (480)          
Net carrying amount 274           196           274           196           

Leasehold improvements
At cost 2,158        2,158        2,158        2,158        
Accumulated depreciation (989)          (719)          (989)          (719)          
Net carrying amount 1,169        1,439        1,169        1,439        

Right-of-use asset
At cost 8,418        8,474        8,418        8,474        
Accumulated depreciation (3,876)       (2,826)       (3,876)       (2,826)       
Net carrying amount 4,542        5,648        4,542        5,648        

Total property, plant and equipment
At cost 11,134      11,308      11,134      11,308      
Accumulated depreciation (5,149)       (4,025)       (5,149)       (4,025)       
Net carrying amount 5,985        7,283        5,985        7,283        

Reconciliation of carrying amounts at the beginning and 
end of the period

Plant and equipment
Opening balance 196           219           196           219           

- Additions 224           104           224           104           
- Transfers in 5              -               5              -               
- Disposals (net of accumulated depreciation) (3)             -               (3)             -               
- Depreciation charge for the year (148)          (127)          (148)          (127)          

Closing balance 274           196           274           196           

Leasehold property improvements
Opening balance 1,439        1,708        1,439        1,708        

- Additions -               -               -               -               
- Disposals (net of accumulated depreciation) -               -               -               -               
- Depreciation charge for the year (270)          (269)          (270)          (269)          

Closing balance 1,169        1,439        1,169        1,439        

Right-of-use asset
Opening balance 5,648        6,715        5,648        6,715        

- Impact of adoption of AASB 16 -               -               -               -               
- Effect of remeasurement (56)            (7)             (56)            (7)             
- Additions -               -               -               -               
- Disposals (net of accumulated depreciation) -               -               -               -               
- Depreciation charge for the year (1,050)       (1,060)       (1,050)       (1,060)       

Closing balance 4,542        5,648        4,542        5,648        

Consolidated Bank
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9 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 

Accounting policy 

Property, plant and equipment 
Property, plant, and equipment are stated at cost, including direct and incremental acquisition costs, less accumulated 
depreciation and impairment if required. Subsequent costs are capitalised where it enhances the asset. Depreciation 
is calculated using the straight-line method over the asset’s estimated useful economic life. 
The useful lives of major depreciable asset categories are as follows: 
Office equipment and furniture 2 to 8 years 
Computer hardware 2 to 5 years 
Leasehold improvements 4 to 8 years (1) 

(1) Calculated as the shorter of the useful life or the remaining lease term. 

Assets that cost less than $300 are expensed immediately. 
Property, plant, and equipment are derecognised upon disposal or where no further future economic benefits are 
expected from its use or disposal. Upon derecognition, any resulting gain or loss, calculated as the difference between 
the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset, is included in profit and loss in the Statements of 
Comprehensive Income. 
Right-of-use asset 
Definition of a lease 

The Consolidated Entity assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease using the definition of a lease in AASB 16 
Leases. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a 
period of time in exchange for consideration. 
As a lessee 
As at 30 June 2022, the Consolidated Entity had contracted a lease for its head office only. A right-of-use asset and a 
lease liability is recognised at the lease commencement date. The right-of-use asset is initially measured at cost, which 
comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any lease payments made at or before the commencement 
date, plus any initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of the costs to restore the underlying asset, less any lease 
incentives received. 
Subsequently, the right-of-use asset is depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement date to the 
earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term. The estimated useful life of the 
right-of-use asset is determined on the same basis as those of property, plant, and equipment. In addition, the right-of-
use asset is periodically adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease liability. 
The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the 
commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily determined, 
the Consolidated Entity’s incremental borrowing rate. 
Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following: 
▪ fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments; and 
▪ variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, measured using the index or rate as at the 

commencement date. 
The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. It is remeasured when there is a 
change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate. 
When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the 
right-of-use asset. 
The Consolidated Entity presents right-of-use assets in Property, Plant and Equipment (Note 9) and lease liabilities 
within Borrowings (Note 15) in the Statements of Financial Position. 
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9 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued) 

Accounting policy (continued) 

As a lessee (continued) 
Under AASB 16, right-of-use assets are tested for impairment in accordance with AASB 136 Impairment of Assets. This 
replaces the previous requirement to recognise a provision for onerous lease contracts. 
For short-term leases (lease term of 12 months or less) and leases of low-value items (such as personal computers 
and office furniture), the Consolidated Entity has opted to recognise a lease expense on a straight-line basis as 
permitted by AASB 16. This expense is presented within administration expenses in the Statements of Comprehensive 
Income. 

10 INTANGIBLE ASSETS 

  

2022 2021 2022 2021
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Work in progress
Net carrying amount - at cost 340           340           340           340           

Computer software
- Cost 1,979        2,617        1,979        2,617        
- Accumulated amortisation (1,550)       (2,022)       (1,550)       (2,022)       
Net carrying amount 429           595           429           595           
Intangible assets 769           935           769           935           

Reconciliation of carrying amount at the beginning and 
end of the period

Work in progress
Opening balance 340           416           340           416           

- Additions 5              48             5              48             
- Transfers out (5)             (79)            (5)             (79)            
- Disposals -               (45)            -               (45)            

Closing balance 340           340           340           340           

Computer software
Opening balance 595           714           595           714           

- Additions 48             22             48             22             
- Transfers in -               79             -               79             
- Amortisation (214)          (220)          (214)          (220)          

Closing balance 429           595           429           595           

Consolidated Bank
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10 INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued) 

Accounting policy 

Intangible assets 
Intangible assets are identifiable non-monetary assets without physical substance. They are recognised only if it is 
probable the asset will generate future economic benefits for the Consolidated Entity.  
Intangible assets include certain internal and external costs incurred in acquiring and developing software that are 
capitalised and amortised over the estimated useful life on a straight-line basis. 
Software projects are amortised over two to five years. 
Software maintenance is expensed as incurred. 
All intangible assets must be tested for impairment when there is an indication that the carrying amount may be greater 
than the recoverable amount. 

11 OTHER ASSETS 

 

Accounting policy 

Other assets 
Other assets are recognised on an accrual or service performed basis and amortised over the period in which the 
economic benefits from these assets are received. 

  

2022 2021 2022 2021
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Prepayments 834           1,022        834           1,022        
Sundry debtors 87             124           3,429        2,333        
Other assets 921           1,146        4,263        3,355        

Consolidated Bank
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FINANCIAL LIABILITIES 

Accounting policy 

Financial liabilities – General 
Outlined below is a description of how the Consolidated Entity classifies and measures financial liabilities relevant to 
the subsequent note disclosures. 
Classification and measurement 
Financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost, or fair value through profit and loss (FVTPL) when they are held 
for trading. 
Additionally, financial liabilities can be designated at FVTPL where: 
▪ The designation eliminates or significantly reduces an accounting mismatch which would otherwise arise 
▪ A group of financial liabilities are managed, and their performance is evaluated, on a fair value basis in accordance 

with a documented risk management strategy; or 
▪ The financial liability contains one or more embedded derivatives, unless the embedded derivative: 

- does not significantly modify the cash flows that otherwise would be required by the contract; or 
- is closely related to the host financial instrument. 

Derecognition of a financial liability 
A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires. Where 
an existing financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms 
of the existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as a derecognition of the 
original liability, and the difference in the respective carrying amount is recognised in the Statements of Comprehensive 
Income. 
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12 DEPOSITS 

 
Information regarding the interest rate risk and liquidity and funding risk related to deposits is set out in Note 2(a) 
and 2(c) respectively. 

Accounting policy 

Deposits 
Deposits include terms deposits and other demand deposits from members and wholesale money market 
counterparties. 
Deposits are initially recognised at fair value less directly attributable transaction costs. 
Subsequent to initial recognition, they are measured at amortised cost. 
Interest incurred is recognised within net interest income in the Statements of Comprehensive Income using the 
effective interest method. 

  

2022 2021 2022 2021
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Call deposits 332,957     286,993     332,957     286,993     
Retail term deposits 567,469     420,442     567,469     420,442     
Wholesale term deposits 156,098     96,546      156,098     96,546      
Withdrawable shares 50             48             50             48             
Deposits 1,056,574  804,029     1,056,574  804,029     

(a) Maturity analysis: Deposits
At call 333,007     287,042     333,007     287,042     
< 3 months 434,324     266,555     434,324     266,555     
3 to 6 months 198,499     137,705     198,499     137,705     
6 to 12 months 82,474      102,330     82,474      102,330     
1 to 5 years 8,270        10,397      8,270        10,397      
> 5 years -               -               -               -               
Deposits 1,056,574  804,029     1,056,574  804,029     

(b) Fair value
The fair values of deposits are as follows:
- Call deposits      332,957 286,993          332,957 286,993     
- Term deposits      721,335 517,283          721,335 517,283     
- Withdrawable shares              50 48                          50 48             
Total fair value of deposits 1,054,342       804,324 1,054,342       804,324 

Consolidated Bank
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13 TRADE PAYABLES 

 

Accounting policy 

Trade payables 
The payables are non-trade, non-interest bearing and have an average term of 14 days. 
Due to the short-term nature of these payables, their carrying value (contractual value) is deemed to approximate their 
fair value. 

14 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 

Interest rate swaps 

Portavia Trust No.1 had interest rate swap contracts with Westpac Banking Corporation, paying a fixed rate of 
interest in return for a floating rate receipt. The payment flows were typically netted against each other, with the 
difference being paid by one party to the other. The Portavia Trust No.1 swaps had amortising profiles. The table 
below reflects the fair value of the derivative financial instruments and the total notional amount. 

 

The schedule below indicates, as at 30 June, the periods when the hedged cash flows are expected to occur and 
when they are expected to affect profit or loss for the Consolidated Entity and Bank. 

  

2022 2021 2022 2021
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Creditors and accruals 3,391        4,458        3,108        4,283        

Undiscounted maturity analysis: Creditors and accruals
< 3 months 2,716        3,880        2,433        3,705        
> 3 months 675           578           675           578           
Creditors and accruals 3,391        4,458        3,108        4,283        

Consolidated Bank

2022 2021 2022 2021
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Cash flow Hedges
Fair value asset -               -               -               -               
Fair value liability -               (37)            -               -               
Notional amount -               2,254        -               -               

Consolidated Bank

Within 
1 year

1 to 5
years

Within 
1 year

1 to 5
years

 $'000  $'000  $'000  $'000 

2022
Net cash flows                -                -                -                - 

2021
Net cash flows             (32)                -                -                - 

Consolidated Bank

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 30 June 2022



57Gateway Bank Annual Report & Financial Statement 2022

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
For the year ended 30 June 2022 
 

57 
 

14 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 

Accounting policy 

Derivative financial instruments 
Under the policy choice provided by AASB 9 Financial Instruments, the Consolidated Entity has continued to apply the 
hedge accounting requirements of AASB 139 financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. 
Features 

Derivative financial instruments are contracts: 
▪ whose value is derived from one or more underlying price indices (or other variables) defined in the contract 
▪ that require little or no initial net investment; and 
▪ that are settled at a future date. 
Movements in the price of the underlying variables, which cause the value of the contract to fluctuate, are reflected in 
the fair value of the derivative. 
Purpose 
The Consolidated Entity’s financial instruments have been categorised as: 
Designated in Hedging Relationships 
Derivatives designated into hedge accounting relationships in order to minimise profit or loss volatility by matching 
movements to underlying positions relating to hedges of the Consolidated Entity’s exposure to interest rate risk. 
Types 
The Consolidated Entity uses one type of financial instrument, swaps, a contract in which two parties exchange a series 
of cash flows for another. 
Risk managed 
The Consolidated Entity uses swaps to manage a particular market factor, namely interest rates – fixed interest rates 
applying to money lent, deposited, or borrowed. 
Designated in hedging relationships 
The Consolidated Entity utilises cash flow hedges: 
▪ Objective of this hedging arrangement 

To hedge the Consolidated Entity’s exposure to volatility in cash flows of a recognised asset or liability, a firm 
commitment to a highly probable forecast transaction caused by interest rate movements. 

▪ Recognition of effective hedge portion 
The effective portion of changes in the fair value of derivatives designated as a cash flow hedge is recognised in 
the cash flow hedge reserve. 

▪ Recognition of ineffective hedge portion 
Recognised immediately in the Statements of Comprehensive Income as non-interest income. 

▪ If a hedging instrument expires, or is sold, terminated, or exercised; or no longer qualifies for hedge 
accounting 
Only when the Consolidated Entity recognises the hedged items in profit or loss is the amount previously deferred 
in the cash flow hedge reserve transferred to profit or loss. 

▪ Hedge item sold or repaid 
Amounts accumulated in equity are transferred immediately to profit or loss. 

Recognition and measurement 
Recognition 
Initially and at each balance date, the Consolidated Entity recognises its derivatives at fair value. If the fair value of a 
derivative is positive, then it is carried as an asset, and where its value is negative then it is carried as a liability. 
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14 DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued) 

Accounting policy (continued) 

Recognition and measurement (continued) 
Derecognition of assets and liabilities 
The Consolidated Entity removes derivative assets from its Statements of Financial Position when the contracts expire, 
or the Consolidated Entity has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership. 
The Consolidated Entity removes derivative liabilities from its Statements of Financial Position when the Consolidated 
Entity’s contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled, or expired. 
Impact on the profit and loss 

All derivative financial instruments held by the Consolidated Entity are designated in a cash flow relationship, refer to 
the Designated in Hedging Relationships section on the previous page for profit or loss treatment of the Consolidated 
Entity’s derivative financial instruments. 
Sources of hedge effectiveness may arise from basis risk and differences in discounting between hedged items and 
the hedging instruments. The hedging instruments are discounted using Overnight Index Swaps discount curves which 
are not applied to the hedged items. 
Hedge effectiveness 
To qualify for hedge accounting, a hedge is expected to be highly effective. A hedge is highly effective only if the 
following conditions are met: 
▪ The hedge is expected to be highly effective in achieving offsetting changes in cash flows attributable to the hedged 

risk during the period for which the hedge is designated (prospective effectiveness) 
▪ The actual results of the hedge are within the range of 80-125% (retrospective effectiveness). 
The Consolidated Entity monitors hedge effectiveness on a regular basis but at least at a minimum at least at each 
reporting date. 
Fair valuation 
The valuation model used to fair value interest rate swaps employs observable market data as inputs (Level 1). Refer 
to Note 2(e) for further details. 

15 BORROWINGS 

 
The Consolidated Entity's interest-bearing bank borrowings relate to funding provided to Portavia Trust No.1 from 
Westpac Banking Corporation, as well as the Reserve Bank of Australia’s Term Funding Facility (TFF). The Portavia 
Trust No.1 facility from Westpac is typically renewed annually, and its next maturity date is 16 March 2023. The TFF 
is a three-year facility, with the tranches set to mature between 8 May 2023 to 13 May 2024. The undiscounted 
values are assumed to approximate the fair values. 

In the current year, the Consolidated Entity incurred interest on the lease liability of $130,928 (2021: $153,692).  

2022 2021 2022 2021
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

(a) Borrowings
Lease liability 4,904        5,888        4,904        5,888        
Bank borrowings 198,621     155,104     46,088      46,000      
Borrowings 203,525     160,992     50,992      51,888      

Consolidated Bank
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15 BORROWINGS (continued) 

 
The inter-entity borrowings in the Bank relates to loans sold to the Portavia Trust No.1. 

 
Due to the short-term nature of these borrowings, the carrying amount of the Consolidated Entity's bank facility 
balances, including the overdraft, approximate their fair values.  

 

At reporting date, the following facilities were available. The committed facility refers to the Portavia Trust No.1 
Westpac warehouse notes program and the Reserve Bank of Australia’s Term Funding Facility. 

 

2022 2021 2022 2021
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

(b) Inter-entity borrowings
Inter-entity borrowings -               -               170,457     128,716     

Consolidated Bank

(c) Maturity analysis: Interest-bearing borrowings

2022 2021 2022 2021
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Lease liability         4,904         5,888         4,904         5,888 
Bank borrowings 198,621     155,104     46,088      46,000      
Inter-entity borrowings -               -               170,457     128,716     
Borrowings 203,525     160,992     221,449     180,604     

Maturity analysis: Borrowings
< 3 months 268           259           268           259           
3 to 6 months 276           267           276           267           
> 6 months 202,981     160,466     220,905     180,078     
Borrowings 203,525     160,992     221,449     180,604     

(d) Fair values

BankConsolidated

(e) Financing facilities available

2022 2021 2022 2021
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Total facilities
- Committed facility 220,925     220,925     45,925      45,925      
Total facilities 220,925     220,925     45,925      45,925      

Facilities used at reporting date
- Committed facility 198,458     155,029     45,925      45,925      
Facilities used at reporting date 198,458     155,029     45,925      45,925      

Facilities unused at reporting date
- Committed facility 22,467      65,896      -               -               
Facilities unused at reporting date 22,467      65,896      -               -               

Consolidated Bank
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15 BORROWINGS (continued) 

(f) Assets pledged as security 

At the reporting date, residential mortgage-backed securities issued by Portavia Trust No.2 were pledged as security 
for the Reserve Bank of Australia’s Term Funding Facility (2022: $59.4 million; 2021: $75.9 million). 
 

(g) Interest rate risk 

Information regarding the interest rate risk of the interest-bearing loans and borrowings is set out in Note 2(a). 
 

(h) Defaults and breaches 

During the current and prior years, there were no defaults or breaches on any of the loans or loan conditions. 

Accounting policy 

Bank borrowings 
Bank borrowings are initially recognised at their fair values less directly attributable transaction costs. 
Subsequent to initial recognition, they are measured at amortised cost. 
Interest incurred is recognised within Net interest income using the effective interest method. 
Lease liability 
The accounting policy for the recognition and measurement criteria for the lease liability is set out in Note 9. 
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16 PROVISIONS 

 
In accordance with the lease agreement, the Consolidated Entity must restore the leased premises in Sydney to its 
original condition at the end of the lease term. No additional provisions were raised during the year ended 
30 June 2022 (2021: $nil) in respect of the Consolidated Entity's obligation to restore the leased office premises at 
the completion of the lease per the requirements of the contract. 

Accounting policy 

Provisions 
Provisions are recognised for present obligations arising from past events where a payment to settle the obligation is 
probable and can be reliably estimated. When payments to settle amounts are expected to be greater than one year in 
the future, they are then discounted using a market observable rate. 
Provisions for employee entitlements (annual leave and long service leave) 
The provision is calculated based on expected payments. Where the payments are expected to be more than one year 
in the future, these factor in the expected period of service by employees, as well as salary increases. These future 
obligations are discounted using a market observable rate. 

  

2022 2021 2022 2021
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Annual leave 603           501           603           501           
Long service leave 545           452           545           452           
Lease make-good 404           404           404           404           
Provisions 1,552        1,357        1,552        1,357        

Reconciliation of carrying amount at the beginning and 
end of the period

Annual leave
Opening balance 501           493           501           493           

- Arising during the year 613           526           613           526           
- Utilised           (511)           (518)           (511)           (518)

Closing balance 603           501           603           501           

Long service leave
Opening balance 452           443           452           443           

- Arising during the year 120           101           120           101           
- Utilised             (27)             (92)             (27)             (92)

Closing balance 545           452           545           452           

Lease make-good
Opening balance 404           404           404           404           

- Arising during the year -               -               -               -               
- Utilised -               -               -               -               

Closing balance 404           404           404           404           

Consolidated Bank
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16 PROVISIONS (continued) 

Accounting policy (continued) 

Lease make-good 
The provision reflects the present value of the estimated costs to be incurred in restoring the leased site to the condition 
required by the terms and conditions of the lease upon completion of the lease. 

17 RESERVES 

 

A General Reserve for Credit Losses (GRCL) for regulatory purposes of $1,976,642 (2021: $1,724,495) is reflected 
in retained earnings. 

Accounting policy 

Reserves 
Retained earnings 

Retained earnings includes the accumulated profits for the Consolidated Entity including certain amounts recognised 
directly in retained earnings. 
Cash flow hedge reserve 
The cash flow hedge reserve is used to record fair value gains or losses associated with the effective portion of 
designated cash flow hedging instruments. Amounts are reclassified to profit or loss in the Statements of 
Comprehensive Income when the hedge transaction impacts profit or loss. 

  

Consolidated Bank
$'000 $'000

Cash flow hedge reserve
At 30 June 2020 (77)               -                   
- Net unrealised gain on cash flow hedges net of tax 40                -                   
- Net (loss)/gain on cash flow hedges reclassified to profit or loss -                   -                   
At 30 June 2021 (37)               -                   
- Net unrealised gain on cash flow hedges net of tax 37                -                   
- Net (loss)/gain on cash flow hedges reclassified to profit or loss -                   -                   
At 30 June 2022  -  - 

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)
For the year ended 30 June 2022



63Gateway Bank Annual Report & Financial Statement 2022

Notes to the Financial Statements (continued) 
For the year ended 30 June 2022 
 

63 
 

18 CAPITAL MANAGEMENT 

The Consolidated Entity is licensed as an Authorised Deposit-taking Institution (ADI) under the Banking Act and is 
subject to prudential supervision by APRA. APRA has issued a series of prudential standards to implement the 
Basel III capital framework. 

The Basel III Standards include APS 110 Capital Adequacy, which: 

(i) Imposes on the Board a duty to ensure that the Consolidated Entity maintains an appropriate level and quality of 
capital commensurate with the level and extent of the risks to which the Consolidated Entity is exposed from its 
activities; and 

(ii) Obliges the Consolidated Entity to have an Internal Capital Adequacy Assessment Process (ICAAP) in place. 

There are three pillars to the Basel III capital framework: 

Pillar 1 

Involves specific capital charges for credit risk, operational risk, and the risk of financial market trading activities. 

Pillar 2 

Involves the Consolidated Entity making an assessment of any additional capital necessary to cover other risks not 
included in Pillar 1. 

Pillar 3 

Involves increased reporting by the Consolidated Entity to APRA. 

The Consolidated Entity's regulatory capital is analysed into two tiers: 
▪ Tier 1 capital: Includes general reserves and current year earnings. 
▪ Tier 2 capital: Includes tier 2 capital of the GRCL. 

Various limits are applied to elements of the capital base. APRA may require an ADI to hold more than 50% of its 
required prudential capital in the form of Tier 1 capital and there are restrictions on the amount of collective 
impairment allowances that may be included as part of Tier 2 capital. Other deductions from capital include deferred 
tax assets and intangible assets. 

 

During the period, the Consolidated Entity has complied with all externally imposed capital requirements. 

 

  

2022 2021
$'000 $'000

Regulatory capital
Tier 1 capital         109,423         106,750 
Tier 2 capital             3,548             3,445 
Regulatory capital         112,971         110,195 

Risk weighted assets         702,567         553,618 

Capital adequacy ratios 16.08% 19.90% 
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19 NOTES TO THE STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

 

Accounting policy 

Statements of Cash Flows 
In the Statements of Cash Flows: 
▪ Gross GST cash flows are included; and 
▪ GST cash flows resulting from investing and financing activities are included in operating cash flows. 

  

(a)

2022 2021 2022 2021
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

Profit for the year 3,910        4,703        3,910        4,703        

Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation 1,681        1,676        1,681        1,676        
Bad debts written-off 509           687           509           687           
Net loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 3              -               3              -               
Movement in allowance for impairment loss (438)          (849)          (438)          (849)          

Changes in assets and liabilities
Increase)/decrease in other assets (1,250)       1,275        (1,250)       1,278        
(Increase)/decrease in deferred tax assets (7)             160           (7)             160           
(Increase)/decrease in loans and advances (199,670)    16,480      (199,670)    16,480      
(Decrease)/increase in current tax liability (911)          864           (911)          864           
Increase in provisions 195           17             195           17             
Increase/(decrease) in trade creditors and other liabilities 499           1,439        (743)          2,077        
Increase in deposits 252,545     6,449        252,545     6,449        

Net cash flows from operating activities 57,066      32,901      55,824      33,542      

Reconciliation of net profit after tax to net cash flows from operations

Consolidated Bank
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19 NOTES TO THE STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (continued) 

 

(b)

Consolidated Borrowings Total
 $'000  $'000 

Balance at 30 June 2020 179,358      179,358      
Proceeds from borrowings 35,824        35,824        
Repayment of debt securities (53,390)       (53,390)       
Payment of lease liabilities (864)            (864)            

Total change from financing cash flows (18,430)       (18,430)       
Liability-related

Interest expense 71              71              
Effect of remeasurement (7)               (7)               

Total liability-related other changes 64              64              
Balance at 30 June 2021 160,992      160,992      

Proceeds from debt securities issuance 43,429        43,429        
Proceeds from borrowings -                 -                 
Repayment of debt securities -                 -                 
Payment of lease liabilities (928)            (928)            

Total change from financing cash flows 42,501        42,501        
Liability-related

Interest expense 88              88              
Effect of remeasurement (56)             (56)             

Total liability-related other changes 32              32              
Balance at 30 June 2022 203,525      203,525      

Bank
 $'000  $'000  $'000 

Balance at 30 June 2020 180,469      16,864        197,333      
(Repayment of)/proceeds from borrowings (51,753)       35,824        (15,929)       
Payment of lease liabilities -                 (864)            (864)            

Total change from financing cash flows (51,753)       34,960        (16,793)       
Liability-related

Interest expense -                 71              71              
Effect of remeasurement -                 (7)               (7)               

Total liability-related other changes -                 64              64              
Balance at 30 June 2021 128,716      51,888        180,604      

Proceeds from borrowings 41,741        -                 41,741        
Payment of lease liabilities -                 (928)            (928)            

Total change from financing cash flows 41,741        (928)            40,813        
Liability-related

Interest expense -                 88              88              
Effect of remeasurement -                 (56)             (56)             

Total liability-related other changes -                 32              32              
Balance at 30 June 2022 170,457      50,992        221,449      

Inter-entity 
Borrowings

Reconciliation of movements of liabilities to cash flows from financing activities

Borrowings Total
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20 COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 

(a) Commitments 

 
(1) There is no certainty that all unfunded loans will ultimately be funded. 

The Consolidated Entity retains the right, at any time, to reduce or withdraw an approved line of credit limit or facility. 

(b) Contingencies 

The Consolidated Entity is not aware of any contingencies comprising possible obligations or assets arising from 
past events and whose existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more 
uncertain future events. 

Accounting policy 

Commitments and contingencies 
Undrawn loan commitments 

The Consolidated Entity issues loan commitments. Undrawn loan commitments are commitments under which, over 
the duration of the commitment, the Consolidated Entity is required to provide a loan with pre-specified terms to the 
customer. 
These contracts are in the scope of the ECL requirements under AASB 9. 
The nominal contractual value of undrawn loan commitments, where the loan agreed to be provided is on market terms, 
are not recorded in the Statements of Financial Position. The nominal values of these commitments are disclosed in 
Note 20(a). 
Commitments and contingencies are disclosed net of GST. 

 

  

2022 2021 2022 2021
$'000 $'000 $'000 $'000

(i) Capital expenditure commitments
Contracted but not provided for and payable within one year -               -               -               -               

(ii) Outstanding loan commitments (1)

Member loans approved but not funded 39,030      28,178      39,030      28,178      
Undrawn reverse mortgage loans 56,035      14,348      56,035      14,348      
Total outstanding loan commitments 95,065      42,526      95,065      42,526      

(iii) Outstanding line of credit commitments
Member line of credit facilities approved but not funded 45,618      47,058      45,618      47,058      

(iv) Outstanding redraw commitments
Member loan facilities where the outstanding loan balance is 
lower than the scheduled balance and the prepaid amount is 
subject to being redrawn 68,134      68,913      68,134      68,913      

Consolidated Bank
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21 AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION 

The auditor for the Consolidated Entity is KPMG. All fees paid in 2022 and 2021 were payable to KPMG. 

 

22 KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL 

(a) Compensation of key management personnel 

Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing, and 
controlling the activities of the Bank, directly or indirectly, including any Director (whether executive or otherwise). 

 
In the above table, remuneration shown as short-term benefits means (where applicable) wages, salaries, paid sick 
leave, bonuses, value of fringe benefits received, but excludes out of pocket expense reimbursements. 

Post-employment benefits include superannuation benefits. 

Other long-term employee benefits include long-term incentives, long-service leave and annual leave. 

All remuneration to Directors was approved by the Members at the previous Annual General Meeting of the 
Consolidated Entity. 

  

2022 2021 2022 2021
$ $ $ $

Audit and review services
Audit and review of financial statements 144,615     139,725     144,615     139,725     

Assurance services
Regulatory assurance services 56,226      54,338      56,226      54,338      

Other services
Taxation advice and tax compliance services 16,716      15,162      16,716      15,162      

Auditor's remuneration 217,557     209,225     217,557     209,225     

Consolidated Bank

2022 2021 2022 2021
$ $ $ $

Short-term benefits 2,107,191  1,868,287  2,107,191  1,868,287  
Post employment 182,775     143,723     182,775     143,723     
Other Long-term benefits 114,609     25,888      114,609     25,888      

2,404,575  2,037,898  2,404,575  2,037,898  

Consolidated Bank
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22 KEY MANAGEMENT PERSONNEL (continued) 

(b) Loans to key management personnel 

 

Secured loans are secured against residential property. All loans advanced to Key Management Personnel are to 
be settled in cash and are issued under the same terms and conditions as other Members. 

Terms and conditions of loans 

The Consolidated Entity’s policy for lending to Key Management Personnel is that all loans are approved, and 
deposits accepted, on the same terms and conditions that applied to Members for each class of loan or deposit. 
There are no impaired loans relating to loan balances with Key Management Personnel. 

(c) Other transactions and balances with key management personnel and their related parties 

 
The Consolidated Entity’s policy for receiving deposits from Key Management Personnel is that all transactions are 
approved, and deposits accepted, on the same terms and conditions that applied to Members for each type of 
deposit. There are no benefits paid or payable to the close family members of Key Management Personnel. 

 

  

2022 2021 2022 2021
$ $ $ $

(i)

Personal loans - secured -               1              -               1              
Term Loans - secured 1,772,142  2,420,362  1,772,142  2,420,362  

1,772,142  2,420,363  1,772,142  2,420,363  

(ii)

Personal loans - secured -               1              -               1              
Term Loans - secured 100,000     913,047     100,000     913,047     

100,000     913,048     100,000     913,048     

(iii)
120,791     442,900     120,791     442,900     

(iv)
34,082      54,737      34,082      54,737      

Consolidated Bank

The aggregate value of loans to key management 
personnel as at balance date amounted to:

During the year the aggregate value of loans disbursed to 
key management personnel amounted to:

During the year the aggregate value of repayments 
received totalled

Interest and other revenue earned on loans and 
revolving credit facilities to key management personnel

2022 2021 2022 2021
$ $ $ $

Total value of term and savings deposits from key management 
personnel 791,609     1,036,066  791,609     1,036,066  

Total interest paid on deposits to key management personnel 1,519        4,489        1,519        4,489        

Consolidated Bank
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23 CONSOLIDATED ENTITIES 

Details of controlled entities are as follows: 

Name of Entity % Holdings Note 2022 2021 
Portavia Trust No. 1 100 100 (1)(2) 
Portavia Trust No. 2 100 100 (1)(3) 

(1) The Bank holds 100% of participating residual income units. 
(2) Established 9 December 2011. 
(3) Established 10 July 2013. 

Accounting policy 

Consolidated entities 
Portavia Trust No.1 

The derecognition criteria outlined on pages 39 and 54 have not been fully satisfied in respect of Portavia Trust No.1. 
Therefore, eligible financial assets and liabilities of this special purpose entity continue to be included in the financial 
statements of both the Bank and Consolidated Entity. 
Portavia Trust No.2 
Although the Bank has transferred its contractual rights to receive the cash flows from the securitised mortgages to 
Portavia Trust No.2, the Bank has substantially retained all risks and rewards of these cash flows through its ownership 
of the note investment and residual income units. 
The residual income units issued by the Trust entitle the Bank to any residual income or loss of the Trust after all costs 
of the Trust have been met, and the note investments provide the Bank with interest income. As such the eligible 
financial assets and liabilities do not meet the criteria for derecognition and continue to be included in the financial 
statements of both the Bank and Consolidated Entity. 

24 SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 

There have been no significant events from 30 June 2022 to the date of signing this report. 
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25 ECONOMIC DEPENDENCY 

The term “economic dependency” means that a change in existing relationships could have an economic effect on 
the Consolidated Entity.  It does not mean that the Consolidated Entity is economically supported by the listed 
organisations in any way, whether financially or by guarantee, other than by means of normal commercial 
arrangements. 

The Consolidated Entity has an economic dependency on the following: 

Australian Settlements Limited (ASL) 

This company provides a range of transactional settlement support processes, particularly in relation to the 
Consolidated Entity's Visa Debit Card offering.   

Commonwealth Bank of Australia (CBA)  

CBA is a provider of banking facilities to the Consolidated Entity. 

Data Action Pty Limited 

This company provides and maintains the core banking system and internet banking utilised by the Consolidated 
Entity. 

Reserve Bank of Australia (RBA) 

The Consolidated Entity has access to the RBA's "repo" arrangement, which allows it to draw funding at short notice 
under a crisis liquidity situation, at the discretion of the RBA. 

The Consolidated Entity also has access to the RBA’s Term Funding Facility (TFF), which is a three-year funding 
facility. 

Westpac Banking Corporation (WBC) 

WBC provides a debt warehouse facility for the Portavia Trust No.1. 
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In accordance with a resolution of the Directors of Gateway Bank Limited, I state that: 

In the opinion of the Directors: 

(b) the financial statements and notes of the Bank and Consolidated Entity for the year ended 30 June 2022, as set out 
on pages 8 to 70, are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, including: 
 

(i) giving a true and fair view of the Bank's and Consolidated Entity's financial position as at 30 June 2022 and of 
their performance for the year ended on that date; and 

(ii) complying with Australian Accounting Standards and Corporations Regulations 2001 
 

(c) the financial statements and notes also comply with the International Financial Reporting Standards as disclosed in 
the Notes to the Financial Statements; and 
 

(d) there are reasonable grounds to believe that the Consolidated Entity will be able to pay its debts as and when they 
become due and payable. 

 

 

On behalf of the Board 

 

P M Schiller 
Chair 
Sydney, 20 September 2022 
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Independent Auditor’s Report 
 

To the members of Gateway Bank Ltd 

Opinions 

We have audited the consolidated 
Financial Report of Gateway Bank Ltd 
(the Group Financial Report). We have 
also audited the Financial Report of 
Gateway Bank Ltd (the Company 
Financial Report). 

In our opinion, each of the accompanying 
Group Financial Report and Company 
Financial Report of Gateway Bank Ltd are 
in accordance with the Corporations Act 
2001, including: 

• giving a true and fair view of the 
Group's and Company's financial position 
as at 30 June 2022 and of its financial 
performance for the year ended on that 
date; and 

• complying with Australian Accounting 
Standards and the Corporations 
Regulations 2001. 

The respective Financial Reports of the Group and the 
Company comprise: 

• Statements of financial position as at 30 June 2022 

• Statements of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income, Statements of changes in equity, and Statements 
of cash flows for the year then ended 

• Notes including a summary of significant accounting 
policies  

• Directors' Declaration. 

The Group consists of Gateway Bank Ltd (the Company) 
and the entities it controlled at the year end or from time to 
time during the financial year. 

 

Basis for opinions 

We conducted our audits in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards. We believe that the audit 
evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinions. 

Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the 
audits of the Financial Reports section of our report. 

We are independent of the Group and Company in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001 and the 
ethical requirements of the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards Board’s APES 110 Code of 
Ethics for Professional Accountants (including Independence Standards) (the Code) that are relevant to our 
audits of the Financial Reports in Australia. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance 
with these requirements. 

Other Information 

Other Information is financial and non-financial information in Gateway Bank Ltd’s annual reporting which 
is provided in addition to the Financial Reports and the Auditor’s Report. The Directors are responsible for 
the Other Information.  

The Other Information we obtained prior to the date of this Auditor’s Report was the Directors’ Report and 
Message from the Chair and CEO. 

Independent Auditor’s Report
For the year ended 30 June 2022
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Our opinions on the Financial Reports do not cover the Other Information and, accordingly, we do not 
express an audit opinion or any form of assurance conclusion thereon. 

In connection with our audits of the Financial Reports, our responsibility is to read the Other Information. 
In doing so, we consider whether the Other Information is materially inconsistent with the Financial 
Reports or our knowledge obtained in the audits, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. 

We are required to report if we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this Other Information, 
and based on the work we have performed on the Other Information that we obtained prior to the date of 
this Auditor’s Report we have nothing to report. 

Responsibilities of the Directors for the Financial Reports 

The Directors are responsible for: 

• preparing Financial Reports that give a true and fair view in accordance with Australian Accounting 
Standards and the Corporations Act 2001 

• implementing necessary internal control to enable the preparation of Financial Reports that give a true 
and fair view and are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error 

• assessing the Group and Company's ability to continue as a going concern and whether the use of the 
going concern basis of accounting is appropriate. This includes disclosing, as applicable, matters related to 
going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the 
Group and Company or to cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audits of the Financial Reports 

Our objective is:  

• to obtain reasonable assurance about whether each of the Financial Reports as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; and  

• to issue an Auditor’s Report that includes our opinions.  

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in 
accordance with Australian Auditing Standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. 

Misstatements can arise from fraud or error. They are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the 
basis of the Financial Report. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audits of the Financial Reports is located at the Auditing 
and Assurance Standards Board website at: http://www.auasb.gov.au/auditors_responsibilities/ar3.pdf. 
This description forms part of our Auditor’s Report. 

 

  

KPMG Richard Drinnan 

 Partner 

 Wollongong 

 20 September 2022 
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